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Thursday, September 11, 2014

--- On commencing at 9:08 a.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good morning, everyone.  Please be seated.


We had discussed on Monday morning, I guess it was, that we'd -- over the first few day of the hearing we would get input on a schedule and layout as well as we could, a hearing plan, and that we would discuss that first thing this morning, so if the panel would just bear with us for a bit, we will take care of a few administrative things first, and then we'll commence our cross-examination of this panel.


Ms. Lea, could you help us out and just let us know what you have received from the parties and --


MS. LEA:  Yes, sir.  My microphone is not going on.  I didn't get the last button.  I wondered whether that was wise or not, sir.


[Laughter]


MR. QUESNELLE:  There we are.


MS. LEA:  Okay, yes.  Thanks very much to those parties who responded, and I think that they are the active parties who responded with your cross-examination estimates for each panel, and I'd sent a spreadsheet to each of those parties last night asking for any errors that I might have made, and I have heard no response, so I presume that what we've got here is approximately correct.


I will give you my best guesses as to when the various Hydro One panels will be able to take the stand.  Please remember, of course, sir, that these are best estimates and not within Board Staff's control.


So I believe that we will -- sorry.  I believe that this panel may not finish today.  Given the number of people who have indicated they wish to cross-examine and length of time, I think that this panel would continue into tomorrow morning.


I believe that panel 3, however, will be able to start on Friday.  One of the things that parties have agreed to do on Friday after lunch is to argue the City of Hamilton's motion.


So we are proposing to you, sir, that we schedule the City of Hamilton's motion to be heard following lunch on Friday.


MR. QUESNELLE:  This Friday, okay.


MS. LEA:  So then we would go on to panel 3 on Friday, possibly in the morning, maybe in the afternoon.


I believe that panel 3 will continue through Monday.  I believe that panel 3 will continue into Tuesday and finish on Tuesday.  That would mean, then, that panel 4 will begin on Tuesday, likely in the afternoon, but it is hard to tell.


I believe that panel 4 will continue throughout Wednesday.  I believe that panel 4 will also continue into Thursday, and I believe that that panel should finish on Thursday, but as with all types of forecasting, the farther out in time you go the less certain your predictions become.


I have spoken to the two intervenors who have filed evidence in the proceeding.  Mr. Cowan is available on Friday, September the 19th, which would be the day that we might hear his evidence, and I am informed also by Mr. Poch that his witness is available in the morning of September the 19th, if in fact he is required to testify.


And I might ask for the panel's guidance in this regard.  I think that Mr. Rogers and Mr. Poch are talking about delivering to Mr. Poch some information which will assist him in knowing whether he believes he has to bring his own witness for his own sake.


We have talked about people who want to cross-examine, and if there is only one person who wishes to cross-examine, it is likely that person would not require the attendance of the witness from California for that purpose.


However, it is your hearing.  It is your record.  So if the Board panel could consider whether they would be assisted by Mr. Marcus's testimony, then I believe that we certainly should bring him, if you believe you would be assisted by his oral testimony, as well as the evidence that he has filed.


So all of that is going on, and we will update you as to how that has resolved.  It may be that he's coming anyway, but I just wanted to let you know where the situation was on that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  So theoretically we could finish this case, the oral-evidence portion, Hydro One could close its case on the Thursday, and we could hear from the intervenor evidence on Friday.


In this -- in these dates which I have given you, it assumes about five hours of cross-examination a day, and then, of course, we will have Board questions.  We will have preliminary matters, that sort of thing, which will take up any extra time that I think we would have on those days in excess of five working hours.


So that is -- that's my belief about this case.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Ms. Lea.


Just looking at the time estimates -- and I recognize it is difficult before others have heard some of the cross-examination, but anticipating that people will be avoiding duplication, I'm optimistic that we will be able to accomplish what Ms. Lea has suggested.


But that requires a discipline right from the start.  We can't allow slippage at the early days, because -- counting on the fact that there might be reduction in the estimates as we go.


So let's be mindful of that, and I will ask parties to certainly, as they always do, do their best to avoid duplication.


Okay.  Ms. Lea, there was one other matter you were going to bring back to the panel today?


MS. LEA:  Yes.  Yes, that's right.  And that was, with regard to smart meter costs for the applicant, two things.  I just want to give you my best understanding of what this case is about with respect to smart meters, and I would ask the Hydro One witnesses to correct me if that is incorrect.  I don't propose to cross-examine further on this issue at this time, although I do have cross-examination for Mr. Amodeo.


But I may need to come back to this panel, particularly once we have seen the undertaking.  So there are two things I wanted to do today.  The first is, I would like to enter as an exhibit a small spreadsheet that Board Staff brought forward to the applicant in the technical conference.  We never made it an exhibit at that time, and I would like to do so now.  We believe that that it will assist in the understanding of the smart meter evidence.


So that would be -- we're in day 3 hearing, yes?  Yes, K3.1, and the title -- I think we will just call it "smart meter spreadsheet from Board Staff".  That covers a multitude of issues and sins.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.1:  SMART METER SPREADSHEET FROM BOARD STAFF.


MS. LEA:  Smart meter spreadsheet from Board Staff, K3.1.


And I will also put on the record my understanding of what this case is about and what we have already approved, and I am very pleased to say that Mr. Ritchie is here as well to provide you with any further detail that may be necessary.


Hydro One Networks' 2006 to 2007 smart meter costs were reviewed and approved in the combined smart meter proceeding and disposed of in this company's 2008 cost-of-service proceeding, which was EB-2007-0681.


So those costs, '06 and '07, were reviewed and approved of any net deferred revenue requirement was recovered through deferral and variance account rate riders and the assets were included in the 2008 rate base going forward.


Hydro One Networks' 2008 smart meter costs were reviewed and disposed of as part of their 2011 cost-of-service application, so again there the account balances were disposed of any net deferred revenue requirement, for example, the deferred revenue requirement offset -- sorry, pardon me, was offset by the smart meter funding adder revenues and applicable carrying charges covered through the rate riders and the net book balance of the assets included in rate base.  So that took care of those costs.


It's also our understanding that the OM&A expenses related to the operation of those smart meters were included in the cost-of-service test-year revenue requirements and recovered in distribution rates going forward.  So that would take care of 2008.


So what is at issue in this current proceeding, as we understand it, are the smart meter capital and operating expenses for the period January 1, 2009 to December 31, 2014, and these have been tracked in the smart meter deferral and variance accounts.  They're accounts 1555 and 1556.


The capital costs for the period, according to our understanding, are 445,079,294.  We reviewed this yesterday.  And the OM&A expenses are 59,436,320, and again we talked about that yesterday in evidence.


So in approving or setting the smart meter costs to be recovered in this case, the Board would be determining, first, the deferred revenue requirement for 2009 to 2014 net of smart meter funding adder revenues, which were recovered over that same time period plus applicable carrying charges, which would be recovered or refunded to customers for a period of time to dispose of that net balance.


So it's the net of those things.


And then secondly, the net book value as of December 31st, 2014, which gives us the opening balance for January 1, 2015, to be reflected in Hydro One Networks' test year rate base and recovered through distribution rates for 2015 and going forward.


We believe that there would be no net book value of stranded conventional meters for disposition at this time.  Some Ontario distributors have had this amount, but as we understand it from Board Staff Interrogatory 81 -- which was Exhibit I, tab 5.2, Staff 81 -- Hydro One Networks' accelerated the amortization of conventional meters to remaining life of five years, and they did that in their 2006 EDR proceeding, so we don't think there would be stranded costs.


I wonder -- as I say I am not going to cross-examine this panel further at this time on smart meters, but if there is anything that I have said that you think needs to be corrected or you wish to discuss these things, we can certainly do so at the end of this panel's cross-examination, if that suits us.


MR. ROGERS:  That will be fine, Mr. Chairman, yes.


MS. LEA:  Thanks very much.  It will give you a bit of time to think about it.  That completes my preliminary matters.  I believe Mr. Rogers has a preliminary matter.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, thank you.  There are several matters, Mr. Chairman.  First of all, the Board will notice that we have added a witness to the witness panel.  I apologize for that.  Mr. Amodeo was out of the province and unavailable.  He is here now, and I wonder if he could be sworn, Mr. Elsayed, and I then will qualify him very quickly.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  He's the gentleman on the far left here.

HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 2


Sandy Struthers, Previously Affirmed


Glenn Scott, Previously Affirmed


Samir Chhelavda, Previously Affirmed


Sam Amodeo, Affirmed

Examination-In-Chief by Mr. Rogers:

MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Could I just -- let me just qualify Mr. Amodeo, if I could, so he can be added to the panel.  Mr. Amodeo, I understand, sir, that your curriculum vitae has been filed in these proceedings as Exhibit A, tab 23, schedule 2, page 13.


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And that is an accurate reflection of your experience and qualifications?


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Very briefly, sir, I understand that you have a bachelor of administrative studies from York University --


MR. AMODEO:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. ROGERS:  -- in 2003?


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Among other qualifications, you are a certified professional accountant with the Institute of Certified Professional Accountants?


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And a certified management accountant with the certified management accountants?


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  He said yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. ROGERS:  You worked at the private sector for a while after graduation, I see, but then became involved with the hydro companies in 2006?


MR. AMODEO:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Have I got that right?


MR. AMODEO:  You were senior financial adviser, business process controls at that time.


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You were then made manager of productivity, ISD support, and NEB, whatever that is.  What is NEB?


MR. AMODEO:  Non-energy billing.


MR. ROGERS:  And ISD support?


MR. AMODEO:  Um..., that's our IT group.


MR. ROGERS:  Your information technology group?


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You're presently the manager of that group, are you, sir?


MR. AMODEO:  I'm not the manager of that group.  I just provide support.


MR. ROGERS:  I see.  All right.  Thank you very much.


Now, you have reviewed the evidence for which you will be answering questions and can confirm that, so far as you are aware, it's an accurate reflection of the company's affairs?


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  And I understand, sir, generally speaking you will be answering questions dealing with productivity, cost efficiencies and some benchmarking.


MR. AMODEO:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.  Now, sir, there are some -- before we get on with the evidence, there are some undertakings I would like to file.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  We have available and we filed electronically, I believe, undertaking answers J1.1, J2.1, J2.2.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  I think the others we'll probably do in written form.  We'll have more for you throughout the course of the day.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MR. ROGERS:  Now, before I turn the panel over for cross-examination, I have spoken to my friend Ms. Lea about this.  And Mr. Struthers, at the end of a long day last Tuesday, I guess it was, answered a question from Mr. Elsayed, and having reviewed the transcript, he feels he wasn't as fulsome as he might have been and helpful as he might have been, and with his permission I would like him to enlarge upon that answer.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.


MR. ROGERS:  Could you do that for us, Mr. Struthers, please?  Maybe tell us what the question was and then answer it.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  I believe Dr. Elsayed had actually asked me four questions, and each were quite distinct, and they had to do with our in-service capital.  Perhaps maybe I can, first of all, from the transcript, remind you what the question was and then sort of confirm more clearly what the answer should be.


So I think the first question you asked was, I think, basically four different scenarios.  You asked, if you do exceed your planned expenditures for the period, what happens?


So my response to that is, if we come in over our annual service in-service capital spend -- and we've done that before -- then we would manage that overage.  So the total overage or any underage over the five-year period, we would deal with, and then we would deal with whatever the underage was, or overage, in the rate basing that would occur at the end of the five years.  So our intent, obviously, is to come in as close as we can.  In any one year, we'll be under and over, but basically to manage that.


I think the second question you asked was, well, what happens if you come in under?  So that first one was over, and the second one is under.


The same.  If we are underspent on in-service capital in a previous year, then we would look to try to make up that in the following year.  We have the ability to do so because in-service capital for distribution really comes in within 12 to 18 months of when we start the capital spend.  So it is fairly quick, and we can manage that.  It is somewhat different from the transmission capital spend.


So we have the flexibility to manage that within our annual capital programs.


The third question you were asking is, if there were new requirements that would materialize during that period, and if there were any new requirements that materialize which are in the normal course of business, then our expectation is that we would accommodate that within our normal program.  So we would defer something, move something around, but basically address it within the envelope.


And we would accommodate that in the in-service capital work that we're trying to do within the year.


If it's a new requirement that is imposed on us by a third party, so, for example, I will go back to smart meters.  If smart meters were suddenly reimposed on us or something new, then we would look to track the new in-service capital costs, and if the annual revenue impact is in excess of $7.5 million annually, then we would look to settle that.  If it's -- sorry, if it's less than $7.5 million annually, then we would settle it at the next rate hearing.  So if it is less than 7.5 million, we will settle at the next rate hearing when we adjust the rate bases.


If the revenue impact is going to be greater than $7.5 million annually, then we are going to treat it as if it is outside the normal course, and then we would seek direction from the Board as to how to manage that additional lost revenue, whether it was in a variance account, a specific rider, or however the Board wanted to dispose of it.


You also asked if we had something else that was already included in capital and which is now determined during the planning period as no longer necessary.  I don't think I fully answered that question.


So if it's something that we had planned, for example, smart grid, and then it was deemed no longer necessary, viable, it wasn't the right answer by us, then what we would try and do is we accommodate it within our capital program spend.  So we have a very large spend on new poles, for example, pole replacements.  We would up that capital program in order to be able to address it.


Again, that would be visible in our annual reporting because that is one of the reporting metrics that we're reporting on.


So if it's an existing requirement that was removed by a third party, so, for example, the third party says, "We don't want you to do an existing program that you have," then, again, we would look to track that service capital in-service capital impact, and if the annual revenue impact was, again, less than $7.5 million, then we would look to settle at the end of the five years.  If it's in excess of $7.5 million, so, for example, the revenue impact -- we're earning more than $7.5 million in additional revenue, then we would look to come back to the Board to have that settled either through a rider or variance or however the Board wanted to adjust it.


I think that probably more fully answers the full questions.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thanks.  That clarifies everything, thank you.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Just to further clarify it, as I understand it -- Mr. Struthers, correct me if I'm wrong, sir, but this is an important feature of the company's application.  If it is less than $7.5 million, when Mr. Struthers said it would be dealt with at the next rate case, I think he meant -- he'll correct me if I'm wrong -- that the company would rebase then.  It wouldn't be seeking any retroactive compensation.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  It is rebasing, if it is less than.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  I think those are the preliminary matters I have for the moment.  The panel is available for questioning.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.

Ms. Lea, I believe you had additional questions for this panel.

MS. LEA:  I do, thank you, sir.
Continued Cross-Examination by Ms. Lea:

MR. LEA:  Mr. Amodeo, I believe that nearly all my questions will be for you this morning.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Lea, just before you start, just the geography of the panel, I am not sure whether or not you are situated very well with the mic, Mr. Amodeo.  Is there a way perhaps we could get you crowding in a little bit?  I am not sure -- we've picked up everything from the court reporter, but if it's at all possible.  Thank you.

MR. AMODEO:  Okay.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I wonder if we could look together at Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1, page 4.  What I wanted to look at was table 2, which is the total annual savings.  This is something that panel 1 very kindly said that you would deal with, and they discussed it with Mr. Janigan to some degree.  And as -- yeah, that's right.  Thank you.  And as discussed with Mr. Janigan, the incremental savings appear to decrease sharply after 2015.

Now, can I ask you whether these numbers -- it appears to Staff that these numbers also seem to indicate that the lion's share of the forecasted annual savings stem from efforts or investments made in the past.  Is that not the case?

MR. AMODEO:  Yes.  The lion's share from back office, which is Cornerstone-related, business systems and business transformation, you can see the top three are -- yes, they're stemming from older initiatives.

MS. LEA:  So your new efforts between 2015 and 2019 are much less than those; is that correct?

MR. AMODEO:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. LEA:  Now, on page 3 -- I don't think you need to turn this up -- but on page 3 of the RRFE report the Board indicates that it remains committed to continuous improvement within the electricity sector.

How, in your view, does this pattern of savings satisfy that expectation for continuous improvement?

MR. AMODEO:  I would say that as we identified, some of the bigger ones were big projects that we just took on recently.  We continued to look for -- for more savings, but these big-type projects, I mean, they take a lot of resources to put towards that.  So, you know, you can only take on so much at any given time.

However, you know, we do continue to look for more initiatives, and we are active as much as possible in that regard.

MS. LEA:  All right.  Because in response to one of our interrogatories -- it was Exhibit 2.2, Staff interrogatory 11, and we've talked about this before -- you said that, given its forecasted productivity savings are ambitious, Hydro One does not expect to achieve additional efficiency gains over the five-year term.

Are you indicating, though, that while you may not expect to achieve these you were going to look for them?

MR. AMODEO:  Yes.  It is aggressive.  Our savings that we're looking for, even with some of the new initiatives, like for instance CIS, which is phase 4 of the Cornerstone, I mean, we are very aggressive in those savings numbers that we have put forth.

We do -- we are going to continue to look for them.  We do have reviews every quarter, every year end, to look for, to update on the existing initiatives and to try to identify more initiatives as we move through the year.

MS. LEA:  And what monitoring of your anticipated or planned productivity gains are you going to conduct over the period of the plan?

MR. AMODEO:  Sorry, could you repeat that again, sorry?

MS. LEA:  What monitoring of your planned productivity gains, the one -- the savings that you have built in, are you expecting to conduct over the period of the plan?

MR. AMODEO:  It would be quarterly.  Every quarter we would present to our operations committee our findings.  So within each quarter we're out there, my group is out there, meeting with these people that are responsible or accountable for these initiatives, and we keep updates on a quarterly basis.

MS. LEA:  Would you be willing to report on the actual savings achieved annually to the Board?

MR. AMODEO:  Yes, we're reporting to our ops committee annually now, so I don't think that that would be an issue.

MS. LEA:  Thank you.

Now, productivity initiatives are often multi-year undertakings.  Is five years sufficient time to complete the cycle of productivity investment?  So you need to identify and deploy, develop, and you were talking about some of these initiatives being big ones.

Are there more large initiatives that will develop over time that may not be fully realized in the five-year period?

MR. AMODEO:  Not that I'm aware of right now.

MS. LEA:  And why is that?  For example, in 2019 your OM&A spending alone will be $600 million in that year.  Do you not anticipate that you will be able to achieve some additional savings in that large amount of money?

MR. AMODEO:  Perhaps we will, but like I mentioned, our productivity savings that we're forecasting out for five years is quite aggressive right now.  It's what we know right now.  And it's what we're reporting on.  It's not as if I'm holding anything back at this point.

MS. LEA:  I believe at one point in your answers you have indicated -- rather, not your own answers, but Hydro One's answers -- you indicated that if you find additional opportunities for savings, you will pursue those opportunities, but you will spend those benefits on other projects.  Is that what I understand to be your evidence?

MR. AMODEO:  Yes.  I think it was mentioned that we would, if we find extra, that we would do more work with that money, which, in turn, should reduce future costs.

MS. LEA:  And what assurance are you offering ratepayers that if you identify these opportunities these will be rolled into new programs?  Would this be part of the monitoring and reporting that you would be willing to do, We found extra savings, and here's what we're going to do with them?

MR. AMODEO:  Sure.  But keep in mind also that, being an aggressive plan, it may be the reverse.  In some cases we may not find savings.

So, I mean, net-net, if we do have extra savings, then we would commit to doing more work with that money.

MS. LEA:  So it's possible that these savings that you plan to achieve will not be achieved?

MR. AMODEO:  It is quite aggressive in some cases, but we will manage it internally, and we will find ways to save the money.

MS. LEA:  Yes, because I was going to say, I think you have indicated on the record that you are willing to live within the planned --


MR. AMODEO:  Correct.

MS. LEA:  -- within the plan, and so a failure to achieve those savings will not rebound on ratepayers?

MR. AMODEO:  Correct.

MS. LEA:  Now, unregulated firms have market pressures on them to continuously improve.  Customers might leave otherwise.  You don't have those pressures.  But I would like to suggest to you that, in order to mirror that, the Board has established explicit productivity and stretch-factor expectations for distributors in this sector.

Yet you are not proposing, in this case, to have a productivity factor or stretch factor.  How is this justifiable, given Hydro One's large budget and the amount of rates that you need to recover from ratepayers?

MR. AMODEO:  I think we could calculate a factor, but I think where our company's going is, we're looking at real initiatives, and we're accumulating those initiatives to a dollar value.  I mean, sure, we could come up with a factor, and I believe one of the undertakings, I think it was on Tuesday or Monday, asked us to do that, and we have done that.  But we like to deal with, you know, real live initiatives and calculate those savings that way.

MS. LEA:  Okay.  I'm not sure that working towards a stretch factor would in any way take away from pursuing real live initiatives, sir.  It would be an externally imposed number, that's true.  But it would provide assurance of -- to the Board and to ratepayers that you were going to have to achieve certain productivity gains.  Is that not the case?

MR. AMODEO:  Yes.  I'm sure that we should be able to -- to accept and provide certain efficiency gains.

MS. LEA:  Now, if the Board were persuaded to impose some sort of stretch factor on Hydro One, one of the difficulties, I guess, is, how would we set one?  What number would we choose?   And in our discussions with panel 1, we talked about the possibility of using the Board's stretch factor of 0.6.  Now, that's the stretch factor that came out of the total cost benchmarking exercise the Board undertook, and that is Hydro One's own stretch factor.

Do you think that that would be an appropriate choice?


MR. AMODEO:  I mean, we did through an undertaking, do the analysis based on what we -- how we would calculate what that stretch factor would be.  And based on our analysis using a 2014 base, I believe that we're better than that 0.6.


MS. LEA:  Can you clarify that answer?


MR. AMODEO:  0.85.


MS. LEA:  By looking at the savings that you plan to achieve?


MR. AMODEO:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  I don't think, Mr. Chairman, that undertaking has been filed yet.  I think it's in the process.  You will probably have it today.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So we haven't seen that yet.  But that would be -- the 0.85 would be -- what I am trying to figure out is, in addition to what you have forecast, if the Board were to impose a stretch factor on you, so what you have calculated there, I think, is what stretch factor results from the savings you have already embedded.  Is that correct?


MR. AMODEO:  Correct.


MS. LEA:  So is it your view that no additional stretch factor is needed?


MR. AMODEO:  I would say yes.  I think zero-point -- I mean, 0.6, I don't know exactly how 0.6 was come up with, but doing the calculations we did, it...


MS. LEA:  Well, 0.6 came out of the total cost benchmarking exercise.  It wasn't based on your -- anything to do with this case or the evidence before this panel.  It was part of the Board's total cost benchmarking exercise.


Now, you have not filed any benchmarking or comparative performance analysis, as we understand your evidence.


And on Tuesday, Mr. Thompson was asking panel 1 about your participation in various industry benchmarking initiatives.  Did you have an opportunity to look at that piece of transcript?


MR. AMODEO:  I read --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, I was going to say perhaps I can answer that question.


MS. LEA:  Please, yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have had a look at the transcript.  We do not participate in, as you indicated, in any industry benchmarkings.  We used to participate in the CEA benchmarking process.


As of 2011, the CEA actually effectively shelved that benchmarking and no longer funds it.  So we don't have that information.  We used to compare ourselves to NB Power, Manitoba Power and also BC Hydro because they we're effectively similar and similar structures in terms of distribution, rural nature, and geographies.


So there is no comparative information that is available, at least for benchmarking within Canada.


I should indicate that I think your assumption was that we didn't have the same pressures as a normal company did with respect to leaning ourselves or keeping ourselves as thin as we can.  I am going to suggest that isn't the case.  I am going to suggest that the Ministry of Energy is very much a pressure in ensuring that we do lean ourselves.  You will have seen the KPMG benchmarking report that was provided, and I also -- I am assuming that you are aware of the Premier's Council Review, which is ongoing currently.  And, again, it is another benchmarking review of both Hydro One and OPG.


So it would be unfair to say that the companies are not under consistent pressure in order to do the best that they can and to come up with as many structures and strategies to reduce costs.


MS. LEA:  Is it your -- do I take from your answer, then -- thank you, Mr. Struthers -- that it is the company's view that even in the absence of an explicit stretch factor, you have an incentive to aggressively continue to seek efficiencies and share those savings with your customers and continuously improve as a result of what you have just described?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.  Certainly this is --it's not even a benchmarking or review that is being done by the company on the company.


It's being -- a review being done by the company by a third party for a third party.


So to the extent that there would be any bias to it and bias in favour of the company, you are not going to find that.


MS. LEA:  Will the results of that -- when would the results of that be available?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't know.  As I say, it's being done for the Premier's Council, and that is an ongoing process.


MS. LEA:  So there is no expectation that it would be available before the record closes in this case?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't know when it might be available, but certainly the company will look at that report, to the extent that it is provided to it, and certainly we have had discussions with KPMG about what might be in it.


We've certainly looked at a number of those items.  They're within the items that we have identified within our business plan.


They've certainly identified that those are the right way to go and that we should be aggressively pursuing them.  So if you are looking for a third-party justification on what we're doing, I am not sure when that will be forthcoming, but we certainly are driving to those targets and to -- driving to those efficiencies, and as we stated before, those efficiencies will be reflected in more work in the work program.


MS. LEA:  Reflected in more work in the work programs, I see.


While I -- while we're discussing these, are you aware of the UMS Group, which has an international distribution benchmarking consortium?  UMS group is a utility management consulting firm, and I just wondered if you ever participated in that.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not aware that we have, but we could check for you and confirm back.  And I am not even sure who UMS is or what they're affiliated with.


MS. LEA:  Likely if you are not aware of it, sir, you are unlikely to have participated in it, so I don't think I will require an undertaking in that regard.  Thank you.


Now, could Hydro One measure its own total factor productivity growth over time to help demonstrate your own productivity?


MR. AMODEO:  Are you referring to the X factor?


MS. LEA:  Well, it could be -- it could be expressed as an X factor, but I am really thinking about -- well, we asked you to fill out, for example, Exhibit I-3.3, Staff IR 60.


That was a -- your attempt -- and we thank you very much for undertaking that.  It was a lot of work -- to look at total factor productivity.


And it appeared to us that your numbers were improving, and I think this was the evidence of panel 1 as well, that your productivity is actually improving.


So our question is:  Could you carry out your own productivity study, some sort of comparable total factor productivity analysis to substantiate that you, in fact, have productivity gains and that these should be recognized?


MR. AMODEO:  Yes, we could look at productivity in a lot of different ways.  It is just the comparison, I guess, if you are looking for some sort of comparison against others, I don't know that -- I don't know that that's possible at this point.


MS. LEA:  No.  That's not what I'm asking with this set of questions.  It is your own productivity against your past achievements within the company.


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.  I am sure we could measure that, yeah.


MS. LEA:  So that is something that you could attempt to do before your next application to the Board for a five-year plan, for example?


MR. AMODEO:  We could look to try to do that.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  My last question relates to an exhibit which is also an interrogatory, so it is Exhibit I, 3.1, and it is Staff 38.  And in part (b) of that interrogatory, we asked you for OM&A as a percentage of total costs from 2010 to 2019.


And what we appeared to note was that the average growth rate of your total costs over the term of your plan, of your custom IR plan, is higher than what you have been able to achieve historically.


So as we looked at the numbers, over 2010 to 2014, the average growth rate of total cost was about 1.1 percent, but over 2015 to 2019, the average growth rate of total cost was about 3 percent.


Now, these are figures that we calculated by adding up these numbers on the chart, and I wonder if you would be either willing to accept those subject to check or undertake to do that mathematical calculation yourself.


MR. AMODEO:  The author of Staff 38, I'm wondering is that -- I don't think that is me.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I can undertake to do that.  We'll have someone check the figures, and if there is a dispute about it, I will let you know.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  We will give that an undertaking number just so it doesn't slip my mind.  So that will be undertaking J 3.1.


UNDERTAKING NO. J3.1:  To check the average growth rate of total cost figures


MS. LEA:  And I guess my question about this is presuming that the growth rate, at least over the term of the plan, is higher, substantially higher than in the past.  First, do these figures include the annual savings potentials that you have identified for the term of the plan?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The answer to your question is yes, though I should suggest that you look at the historic numbers 2012, 2013, 2014.  You will see that there isn't really a pattern to it.  So, for example, in 2013, the spending in OM&A was 610 million.  It goes down to 581 million in 2014.


So I'm very much cautious of where you take a starting point, and I think you need to talk to panel 3 about what the programs reflected in the numbers are.


MS. LEA:  Okay, that's helpful.  Thank you.


Just to clarify what I am asking in the undertaking, in case there is any misunderstanding, it's the line that is labelled "total" that I'm -- that we did the calculation on with respect to the historic and future savings.


So as part of that undertaking, unless you can address it now, our other question with respect to this interrogatory is, why is the growth rate significantly higher than prior years, even with the savings included?


I don't know if you wish to attempt to answer that now or send it to panel 3 or answer it by way of undertaking.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am going to suggest that we give it to panel 3.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  That's always so nice, isn't it, when you give it to your colleagues.


If I could just have a moment, sir.  I just want to confirm I have no other questions for this panel.


So the only other thing that I was going to ask is another undertaking, and this relates to Exhibit K3.1, which I filed right at the beginning here, the smart meter chart.


I wonder if Hydro One could review and correct or confirm the numbers in this chart, because I think for one thing they need to be updated to reflect the 2014 forecast capital and OM&A costs and the additional smart meter installations by the end of 2014.


So these are, I think, stale-dated numbers.  That would update this exhibit to reflect Hydro One's updated proposal and the complete smart meter program as of year-end 2014.


Is that acceptable, that you would update these numbers for us?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  So that would be undertaking J3.2, and the undertaking is to update Exhibit K3.1.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.2:  TO correct or confirm data in the smart meter chart in EXHIBIT K3.1.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, that completes my questions of panel 2, with the tag that if I have anything to come back on smart meters I will let you know.  Thanks.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Ms. Lea.


DR. ELSAYED:  Just a quick question.  I think it was Mr. Struthers that mentioned this Premier's Council Review.  Can you just tell me what -- has that started, and what is the scope of that review?  And I believe you said it was being done by KPMG?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The Premier's Council Review is an ongoing review that the Premier has asked Mr. Ed Clark, who is the chief executive officer of the TD Bank, to undertake with a panel.  They are looking at various options associated with the agencies and entities that they own, Hydro One being one of them.  They have also sort of undertaken a review as to how we could become more efficient, and have retained an external consultant to look at our operations.


DR. ELSAYED:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  I don't know if there's been an agreed-to order.  I am looking around here to see.  Mr. Stephenson?


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  I think I will be going next.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:


MR. STEPHENSON:  Panel, my name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.


Mr. Struthers, I think most of this is for you.  And you will let me know otherwise.


Before I start, I just want to -- I am going to be dealing with some issues around collective bargaining, and I know that Hydro One will be going into collective bargaining relatively soon with my client because the collective agreement is coming to an end, I believe at the end of March of 2015.  Have I got that right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I believe both OPG and Hydro One's collective agreements come due March 31st, 2015.


MR. STEPHENSON:  So I just want to give you some comfort that I am not -- when I am asking my questions I hope to be doing it on a relatively generic basis.


I am not asking you to divulge any of Hydro One's strategy or plans or any of that sort of thing, and if as a part of your answer you think you have to get into that, I invite you to talk to your counsel.  But that is not the focus of what I am attempting to do, just to give you that comfort.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Thank you.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I want to speak to you about compensation as a first item.  And my focus is going to be on the PWU-represented staff.  And it's fair to say, I take it, sir, that compensation paid to PWU-represented employees forms a significant part of both -- well, of your overall spend.  Fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's very fair.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I just want to be clear off the top about this, how this plays into the OM&A side and also on to the capital side.


Clearly on the OM&A side it is pretty straightforward.  The PWU-represented staff form the majority of your overall employees and the majority of your overall compensation costs, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  On the capital side, part of your capital costs are capitalized labour, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that's got a variety of components embedded in it, as I understand it.  I just want to explore that with you for a moment.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.


MR. STEPHENSON:  One of the elements of capitalized labour will be PWU-represented staff.  They are involved in at least some of your capital works, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But they may actually not comprise, depending upon the nature of the project, the majority of the labour cost related to that capital project in any particular case.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Correct.  It would be very dependent on their involvement as to how much of that capital program related to PWU-specific labour.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so, for example, on some of your capital projects you will have the building trades' unions heavily involved in them, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That would be correct.  Primarily most of them on the transmission side, but correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  You will also have another union which is involved in some of your construction work, a union called the Canadian Union of Skilled Workers, right, and so some of their costs are embedded in those capital projects?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Then you also will have some implicit labour costs embedded in those capital projects through contractors.  These are external to Hydro One altogether, but they have people who work for them, and their labour costs are embedded in the contractors' overall costs.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  So if we were to have a third party build or work on something and we would have put that out to tender, our expectation is that labour costs would be in their total cost that is billed to us.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But those dollars don't show up in your compensation numbers at all.  Correct?  They simply show up on some other line in your financial documents.


MR. STRUTHERS:  If a third party is paying for those costs then they won't be part of our labour costs; that's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me talk to you about the collective bargaining regime as a backdrop to the outcomes that you ultimately wind up paying.


I don't think any of this will come -- is in any respect controversial, but maybe you can just simply confirm.  Firstly, Hydro One has a highly unionized work force as between the PWU and the Society, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Correct.  90 percent of the labour force is unionized.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Both of those unions have been the certified representatives of their -- of those employees since before Hydro One was formed, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.  It goes back to Ontario Hydro and Ontario Hydro's roots, I suspect.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And the collective agreements that pertain to those employees came over from Hydro One as a matter of law, as a result of the industry restructuring back in 1998.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  We inherited what would have been the existing Ontario Hydro contracts as they stood at that point in time.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And at least with respect to the PWU, that is a -- it's a very large, complex, detailed document.


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is, and I believe it is -- in fact, it's -- one of the interrogatories actually has a copy of the labour contract.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Many of my colleagues refer to it as the "phone book".


MR. STRUTHERS:  It looks like a small one, yes, in terms of -- but it is the thickness of a phone book.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And under the collective bargaining regime, a consequence of the way it all works is Hydro One does not have the ability to deal on a one-to-one basis with members of these bargaining units.  The only people that Hydro One can speak to about the terms and conditions of those employees is -- are their representatives.  Correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then once a collective agreement has been entered into, it is absolutely binding on both sides for its term.  Correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct as well, under labour law.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, in your current collective agreement with the PWU at least, there is an employment security clause in the sense that it limits the ability of the employer to subject PWU-represented members to involuntary layoffs.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So even if you were so inclined -- and I am not suggesting you were -- you can't get rid of people from the PWU bargaining unit unless you have cause to terminate them.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I believe that's correct.  And, certainly, I believe there is a process if we were to go through that.

MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Chair, I am a little uncomfortable with some of these questions as they ask for legal opinions.  I think they're generally correct, and we all understand it, so I will permit it to continue, but just ask everyone to remember Mr. Struthers is not a lawyer, and he is not a labour lawyer, and he probably hasn't read the full collective agreement.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But there -- and the collective agreement all -- you're also aware the collective agreement contains limits and restrictions on Hydro One's ability to contract work out to contractors, work that's been -- that it would otherwise be done by PWU-represented staff.  Correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is very correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And there is a formalized process under the collective agreement under which those kinds of things are considered, and there is a decision maker that determines whether or not Hydro One is going to be permitted to do that, yes or no.  Correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you are bound by that outcome?

MR. STRUTHERS:  It goes to arbitration, yes.  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In terms of collective bargaining, this is not something that the parties take lightly.  This is not just a bunch of people collected in a room.  Right?  This is a very formal process?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, it is a formal process.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And both sides devote significant resources to that process.  Correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, sorry, I cannot -- certainly, I can only speak from the Hydro One side, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, but you see what comes back on the other side.  It would be apparent, fair, that the other side's spending some time and money on this process.  Fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And it is -- and at times, it can be very adversarial.  Fair?  It's not -- this is not a tea party.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Your characterization of not being a tea party is absolutely correct.  It is not a tea party.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And is it fair to say that Hydro One, in advance and through the process of collective bargaining, identifies its priorities and seeks to, you know, achieve the things that are important to it?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I think it is fair to say that both sides, when they go into a labour negotiation, will have identified their priorities as to what they wish to achieve in those negotiations, and then it is a matter of what can be agreed to.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  I just want to talk about what is important -- would you agree with me -- with this proposition.  At the end of the day, in terms of what comes out of the process at the back end, in terms of the outcomes, like any negotiation, it is ultimately all about bargaining power.  It is who can effectively assert their bargaining power in a way that gets the outcome trending in their direction.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I would agree.  In any negotiation it's a balance of bargaining power and reasonableness.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And let me just talk to you about some of the factors that might influence the respective bargaining power.

From Hydro One's perspective, unlike some employers, Hydro One can't threaten to leave the jurisdiction.  You are intrinsically an Ontario-based operation.  Your wires and your infrastructure are right here.

MR. STRUTHERS:  We have no assets outside of Ontario.  We are an Ontario-based company.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And secondly, there are -- Hydro One has got some serious limitations on its ability to replace people with technology.  I mean, obviously there are lots of things you can do in terms of technology and capital and so forth.

But at the end of the day, there still needs to be a lot of people, human beings, doing work for you.

MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  Storm restoration, for example, I require the field force to do the work.  It can't be done by a computer.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And by the same token, while there may be some opportunities for you, in theory, at least, there are limitations on your ability to offshore work.  I mean, you can't offshore lines work.  It has to be done where your assets are.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  Physical, because of physical proximity required because of the assets, the work would have to be done in the Province of Ontario.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And then -- and lastly, you know, Hydro One can't make a credible threat that it is simply going to go out of business.  Somebody's got to be running this operation.

MR. STRUTHERS:  The entity would exist in some form.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And you've said in your evidence -- and I just want to get you to confirm this -- that the reality is that, by virtue of the structure of your company, the nature of its operations, the nature of its assets, that, in the event of a PWU work stoppage, there is a very serious limitation on your ability to effectively operate your system over a period of time.

MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't think -- I may have expressed that in testimony, but that is -- that's a very valid statement.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that's a reality that Hydro One has -- you understand and you have to grapple with as a factor in your labour negotiations.  Fair?

MR. STRUTHERS:  We certainly understand that constraint, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I mean, one option that many employers have in labour negotiations in the event of an impasse is to lock out the workers.  That is a theoretical possibility.

In your case, that is, needless to say, very problematic.

MR. STRUTHERS:  I would agree it is problematic.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And let me talk to you about, on the other hand, another factor which may have some role in collective bargaining, and that is compensation benchmarking.

You are no doubt aware that Hydro One has done compensation benchmarking from time to time and has done some, I think, in this last round.  Correct?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I believe there is a Mercer's report that has been filed certainly either in evidence or as a response to an interrogatory that is an updated compensation for you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I take it would be Hydro One's view that that study provides it with valuable information?

MR. STRUTHERS:  It provides us with a point in time in information as to where we are compared to market at a point in time, yes.  It has some value.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But can you assist me in terms of what value does it have in terms of driving the outcome of a collective bargaining negotiation?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I think one would look at it as being useful input, but the actual negotiations themselves are based on what the parties are trying to obtain from each other and what ends up being a fair and equitable agreement that the parties both can live with.  So, yes, it is helpful, but it's not going to be the item that would define what your agreed-to increase in rates or wages would be.

MR. STEPHENSON:  In terms of outcomes, another possible outcome coming out of collective bargaining, in the event of an impasse, is something called interest arbitration, where the matter gets sent off to an arbitrator to determine what is going to happen to the collective agreement.  You are familiar, broadly speaking, with that phenomena?

MR. STRUTHERS:  Broadly speaking I am aware of the concept, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I've -- Hydro One has told me in the past, in this hearing, that its broad understanding and its view about interest arbitration is that interest arbitration outcomes tend to be more favourable to the union than actual settlements.  Does that continue to be Hydro One's view?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  And as I understand it, having spoken with our labour relations people, that they continue to have that belief.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so broadly speaking, while it is theoretically available, it is from Hydro One's perspective not a preferred option?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Our preferred option is to arrive at a mutually agreeable agreement with our unions.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And from an outcomes perspective, that is the universe of alternatives, isn't it?  It's, you either come to a settlement, you have a work stoppage, or you get a referral to binding arbitration.  Those are the -- there are only three doors.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, there are three doors, and those are the three doors.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Obviously concerns have been expressed both by the Board and by parties in this room from time to time about the level of compensation, and in terms of the -- Hydro One's standing with respect to market median.  You are aware of those concerns?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am aware of those concerns, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I think you spent some time with Ms. Lea on this issue the other day, that when we -- when you are talking about Hydro One's standing in relation to the market median, there are two elements to that exercise.


The first element is, what is Hydro One actually paying, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  The second is, what's the market doing, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  Because it is a benchmark against market.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  So it is a dynamic.  You are moving against a moving target.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And needless to say, you have no influence over the target, by definition.


MR. STRUTHERS:  To the extent the market moves, we have no influence over market movements.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so to the extent that you actually have achievements, in terms of your overall cost -- that is, successes in reduction of your overall costs -- I think it goes without saying that if the market is going down faster than you are, your position is worse relative to the market, notwithstanding your achievements.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That would be correct.  If the market is seeing a wage increase that is lower than our wage increase, then we're not performing as well against market, and that would put us on the wrong side of where we would like to be in terms of benchmarking.


I should be a little more clear, in that I think within an industry certainly that parties will look to how other parties have performed in negotiations as sort of a reference point in terms of where they might want to try and achieve a number.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And the way that manifests itself, in your world, is that people tend to look to the big electrical market players in Ontario, in your case particularly OPG and Bruce Power.  Those are the big players, and some to a lesser degree, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  And I am sure that is how the Power Workers' Union looks at it as well, that they would look to what they have been able to achieve with OPG and Bruce Power.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And the reason why those people are particularly relevant is not only just their size and the fact that they're in Ontario, but they came from a common starting point.  Everybody in 1998 had exactly the same deal.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  It's an easy way to measure yourself.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But I take it there is not a heck of a lot -- nobody spends a lot of time talking about what people are paid at ATCO or BC Hydro.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't know about that.  I certainly know that we do look at how others in the Province of Ontario may have fared.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me talk to you about what is -- what is within the range of achievable outcomes and what is not within the range of achievable outcomes, and I am not talking about actual specifics.  I am dealing with this more on a higher level.


There are certain things that are -- that Hydro One understands to be virtual showstoppers, in terms of achievability.


And to give you a simple example, an absolute decrease in wage rates, I take it, is a -- Hydro One understands that to be a virtual showstopper.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think if would be extremely difficult to get a decrease in wage rates.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And similarly -- I am going to deal with this a little bit more in a moment, but the -- pensions and OPEBs, both of them are incorporated by reference into both of the PWU and Society contracts.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct, they're referred to or they're contemplated within the collective agreements.  So, yes, they're part of the collective agreement.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Neither of them can be changed without, like everything else in the collective agreement, without a deal being made in the collective agreement that affects those things, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  To have a change to those you would have to sit down and negotiate an outcome.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that, again, came to Hydro One as a matter of law upon its inception back in 1998.


MR. STRUTHERS:  They're legacy.  They came with the original Ontario Hydro agreements.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I suggest to you that absolute rollbacks in pension entitlements are -- also have a showstopper element to them.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think one can argue that anything could be negotiated.  The question is whether it is achievable.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  One of the things you have achieved on the pension side is, you've achieved increases in employee contributions.  You have succeeded in doing that on several occasions, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.  Certainly in comparison to OPG we have been more successful, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And, I mean, needless to say, you're not where you want to be on that question from the employer perspective.  Is that fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think the employer would always want more pension contributions than less; that's true.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But these have not been insignificant increases either.  Like, if you view it from the base of how many dollars the employees pay, they have increased their contributions by about 20 percent or more when viewed off the base of what they were paying before the increases.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Subject to doing the mathematics, yes.  The increases have been fairly substantial, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And as I understand it, Hydro One, rather than beating its head against a wall in terms of trying to get an absolute decrease to wage rates, its focus has been to achieve things that give it flexibility in the management of the enterprise.  That has been at least one of the big focuses.  Is that fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's a fair statement.  We have been looking for additional flexibility in how we operate, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that results in lower cost overall, in terms of the operation of your business.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And your evidence, I think, has indicated a variety of ways that has occurred, but I just want to focus on one of them, and that is the PWU hiring hall.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  That was an innovation which was agreed to several rounds of bargaining in the past.


MR. STRUTHERS:  It's been very effective for us.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And it is something that you have, over time, used more and more of, I believe.


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is an effective way for us to get work accomplished, yes, very effective way.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And the two key attributes to the hiring hall are -- there may be others, but one is that you are not undertaking any permanent commitments to the employees that are affected.  They come and go as the work demands, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It allows us to have a seasonal work force, absolutely.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And secondly, they -- they are not members of the Hydro One pension plan.  You do not incur incremental pension obligations to those employees.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.  They are not part of the Hydro One pension plan.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So I take it you view that as a -- that is a success story from your perspective.


MR. STRUTHERS:  From a cost perspective and a flexibility perspective, it has been -- allowed us to get through the work program in a very cost-effective manner.  It's been very effective.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me talk to you for a moment about staff complement.  It's the number of employees, which, needless to say, that affects your total compensation bill as well.  Right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Hmm-hmm, correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Over the last decade, Hydro One has been, becoming a bigger company.  Correct?  You are -- you've got more people, and you do more things.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Certainly we are much certainly much larger than we were in 2,000 in terms of assets, size of geography in terms of the layout, physical distribution, system, everything else.


We are a much larger company from that perspective, and it has required more people to be able to manage that system, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so one of the issues that you have confronted -- I suspect you will say successfully -- over the last decade is that you have managed to recruit and employ bodies that enable you to do the stuff you have to do under this larger mandate.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  We've been, as you pointed out, successful in being able to manage our work force by hiring staff as we needed to hire staff.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And you have done that -- but you've done that in a world where you've got a demographic issue in your workforce.  People are aging and are leaving the company simply by virtue of you have a bubble of older workers.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  And it is something we recognized.  We staffed up in order to deal with that so that the new employees had some knowledge before people retired.  So you will actually see -- have seen an increase in our full-time equivalent, and then you will now start to see a drop-off as people retire.


The ratio of retirements to new hires is roughly two retirees for every new one hire.  We are now ramping down in terms of the complement of individuals.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  I was just going to get to that.


I just did -- a number of the people in this room were just in an OPG case, and OPG acknowledged that they had some -- historically had had some element of overcomplement and that they were in the process of working it out.


MR. STRUTHERS:  In our case, we did it intentionally.  We were looking towards the future.  We made some investments in university programs.  We have made investments in various other things to ensure we have a trained workforce that we can effectively pick up and also to ensure that we are hiring in advance so that when people retire the new, the new staff have the skill sets.  They're not necessarily as effective because it takes them a while to come up to speed, but obviously that is our intent to get them up to speed as quickly as possible.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But your company, in terms of overall number of employees, I think, through your evidence, you're forecasting some element of decline in terms of total number, but it is not a dramatic decrease in the numbers.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I wouldn't say that.  If you look at 2013, because of the timing of it, it is a bit of an anomaly in terms of the shape of the graph.


But you will see that there is a continuous decline in the number of employees.  So I wouldn't say it is immaterial in terms of decline in full time.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But in any event, you still need -- because of the numbers of departures, you are still in recruitment mode.


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I say, for every two people that leave, we are hiring one.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But this isn't -- let's put it this way.  You're not in a situation where you are aggressively attempting to get people to leave the company.


You're downsizing, to the extent it is occurring, is occurring almost naturally.  In fact you are counterbalancing it to a degree.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  It is a natural decline as people retire, but having said that, we were able to project what those demographics would look like, and we hired on the basis of those demographics, and we're now starting to see, or we are seeing, the -- what we have projected is actually coming to pass.  So you could argue it is good planning.  I would argue it is not just luck.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I just want to talk to you about overtime for a moment.  I am not sure how big an issue it is in this case, but people, from time to time, get upset about overtime.


You have an overtime bill.  If we look at your overall compensation, there is X million dollars paid of overtime in any given year.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct, and it is usually storm driven.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  I take it that you, as a company have -- that's an issue; that is a management issue that you have to deal with and decide how you are going to deal with the demands for resources from day to day and month to month.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, correct.  And what we try and do in terms of managing our overtime is -- so, for example, we may do work on the weekends because it is less impactive to industry or to a customer.


So we may do it at six o'clock in the morning on a Sunday.  That would be considered potentially overtime.  But we're trying to manage what we have to do within the work program or impact on our customers and also our costs.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I mean, I take it that you have a variety of alternatives in terms of staff resources that you can bring to bear at any given point in time, whether it's your regular staff or hiring hall or contractors or whatever.


But is it fair to say that you are making -- two big drivers that drive your decision-making on this is:  What's the operational need?  And what's the economic choice?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  We're looking at the impact to our customers.  If it is storm damage, we don't have any choice.  We will use whatever staff that we can in order to get work done.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And it may well be that, in any given circumstances, overtime is either, as you say, you don't have a choice, or it may well be the cost-effective alternative?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It could well be the cost-effective alternative, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  On pension and OPEBs, let me just deal with that briefly.


Firstly, on pensions, we talked already about the collective agreement and the need for bargaining on that.  But there's also an additional limitation on your ability to change pensions, and that is, as I understand it -- and I am cautious of my friend Mr. Rogers about legal matters, but I believe you understand about this.


There are restrictions in the Pension Benefits Act which provide an absolute legal restriction on the company's -- company reducing the benefits which are already accrued to members of the plan.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm not a lawyer, but my understanding is that is the case.  You can't take away what's already been contractually provided.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But it's not even more -- it's even more than contractually provided.  You have a large number of retirees.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  We do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I believe there is virtually almost as many retirees as there are active members.


MR. STRUTHERS:  There are more retirees than there are active members, and when the Ontario -- when the Ontario Hydro structure was split, the pension plan structure was split.  Hydro One was allocated more retirees and, as a result has always been in a position -- the pension plan has always been in a position where there are more retirees than active members in the pension plan.


MR. STEPHENSON:  The entitlements of those retirees, by definition, are all accrued because they have left the company.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  They would have been addressed -- there are pension plan obligations, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And it doesn't matter -- unlike -- you cannot sit down with the PWU in collective bargaining and reduce the benefits that go to retirees; that is illegal.


MR. STRUTHERS:  My understanding of the law is that is the case.


MR. STEPHENSON:  You know who Jim Leech is, I take it?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have met Mr. Leech, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And Jim Leech is the former heads of the Ontario Teachers' Pension Plan.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  He was the chief executive officer, I believe.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And he has been -- he was retained by the Government of Ontario to take a look at electricity sector pension issues.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And he produced a report.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And you are familiar with the report?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am familiar with the report, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And he -- without getting into the detail of what is in the report, needless to say he expressed some concerns about aspects of the -- not only your pension plan, but the other electricity sector participants.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  He expressed concerns about a number of items within the structure of the Ontario electricity pension plans, and it varies depending on each company, but there are -- he did indicate the concerns that he had, arguably, by each company.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And he made -- he had some ongoing task, doesn't he?  He's still got a brief on this, doesn't he?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, that's not -- well, it's not my understanding.  My understanding was that what he had provided to the Government of Ontario was actually a roadmap, and then it is up to the Ministries of Energy and Finance to decide how they want to proceed with that roadmap.


MR. STEPHENSON:  In any event, to the extent that there is some kind of progress that's going to get made coming out of that report, in terms of the overall affordability of these pension plans, this is going to take some negotiation between the unions, the employers, and the Province.  That's -- something like that is foreseen, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe that it is going to vary, but I suspect that all three parties will have to be involved in some form, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And there may well be -- at least there is one issue which is on the table somewhere down the line, is legislative reform.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm sorry, I am not sure what you mean by "legislative reform".


MR. STEPHENSON:  In terms of structural change to these pension plans or fundamental role changes to these pension plans.


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you're talking about structural change, yes, I suspect that that would have to be done either through amendments to the existing Pension Benefits Act or structural changes, yes, and that would require legislation.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And in terms of structure, just to be clear about this, the Ontario Hydro -- or, sorry, Hydro One pension plan is a traditional single-employer defined-benefit pension plan.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that's absolutely correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  We hear talk this in this room and elsewhere from time to time about pension plans that have 50/50 contribution schemes, employer and employee, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, they exist.  They're generally referred to as jointly-sponsored pension plans.  There are exceptions where you don't have that, but by and large most of the 50/50 plans are jointly sponsored pension plans.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that is a fundamentally different structure than your plan, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is a fundamentally different structure, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And it includes, among other things, joint governance, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  The big difference is the joint governance issue.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, the other big difference is, am I not -- that not only is there a sort of a 50/50 sharing of the funding obligations, there is a 50/50 sharing sort of down the line, almost, that -- so for example -- oh, for the days of contribution holidays.  Once upon a time you guys had -- the employer had a contribution holiday, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  And I think that was actually the basis of the cash discussion on pensions back in 2000, 2002, we -- or I think through to 2000 and -- maybe 2002, 2003, the company was in a pension holiday and effectively used the surplus in the pension plan for its required contributions to the plan.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But in the event you wind up in surplus and the employer is in a position to take a pension -- a contribution holiday, that does not necessarily apply to the employees, right?  They still have their collective agreement obligations to keep putting money in, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  Employees will continue to make -- would continue to make contributions to the pension plan, even though the employer would fund those contributions from the surplus in the plan, but both parties still make contributions.  It is just a matter of where they're funded from.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And in a world of 50/50 funding, that changes too, right?  Everybody gets the benefit of whatever your financial situation in your plan is.


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you move to a joint sponsored pension plan, that would change.  There would be no holiday for the employer.  If the -- it is an equal contribution both by employer and employee.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Just last thing on comp, and I spoke a little bit with Ms. Frank about this issue before.


Your application assumes a two-year -- sorry, a 2 percent comp increment on an annual basis for the five years?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  What we have assumed is that wage rates will increase by 2 percent.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And --


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is an assumption in the plan.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And assuming that your application is approved as applied for, the effect of that is, it places a very significant economic incentive on Hydro One to meet or beat that outcome in its bargaining, because you bear the economic consequences of success or failure.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  So I think you've got to look at it from the point of view of, if there is a wage increase, what are the benefits that you are getting, at least from an employer's perspective, that offset those increases, so whether it is increased pension contributions or whether it's increased flexibility or whatever the item might be, you've got to weigh the two against each other.


You may be able to come up with net zero as a result of that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But more fundamentally, if -- you know, let's -- you know, if Hydro One wound up with an outcome where it was a 3 percent increase for each two years in a PWU collective agreement, hypothetically, the company's got to find -- that 1 percent is not passed on to the ratepayers.  The company's got to find a way of absorbing it, whether through its operations or the shareholder, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If we're unable to negotiate something else, then, yes, it absolutely becomes our problem to solve.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Similarly, if you get 1 percent, that gives the company some funds that aren't going to the plan comp, and it could be deployed for whatever other purpose.


MR. STRUTHERS:  We would look to put whatever savings we could, whatever productivity savings we could, into additional work programs.  So it would reduce our unit costs, and we would expect to do more units.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I am moving to a completely different area.  It is the KPMG report.


I am not so much interested in the benchmarking aspect of it.  I think this is Exhibit -- I hope to have this right -- it is 1, dash -- sorry, I-3.03, schedule 9, and it's SEC Interrogatory Response 31.  And there were three attachments to it.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have them.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Just some general questions.


First, this was not a report which was commissioned by Hydro One, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  It was a report -- sorry, it was a benchmarking assessment that was done for the Ministry of Energy for the deputy minister and the assistant deputy minister, I believe, but it was done for the Minister of Energy.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  You were the subject of this report, not the sponsor.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  It's not a report that the company had influence over, in terms of scope, direction, or outcome.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Your role was limited to cooperating with the authors and facilitating their work, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And as I understand it, there's actually three reports.  There is one that is this benchmarking one, there's one which is the assessment of cost-saving opportunities, and the third is sort of a rate-impact analysis document.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I might refer to them slightly differently.  I think one of them was an assessment of benchmarking that had already been done on Hydro One.


I think as an outcome of that review they decided to do an in-depth review themselves of Hydro One, or certainly a review of Hydro One.  And then the third one is some economics that they -- which I don't know how they came up with, that they have arrived at.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I am going to focus on -- they have been marked as -- on what I call attachments 2 and 3, which is not the historical benchmarking one, but the other two.


And I think the quickest way to do this actually is to go to attachment 3, which is the Hydro One ratepayer impact analysis document.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have that document, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Before I get into the details of this, and dealing more generally -- there was a more general question I forgot to ask.


Has Hydro One prepared a written response to this document for the government or anybody else?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't know.  I would have to -- that would be subject to check, if I -- if you wanted me to do that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Mr. Rogers, can I get you to undertake to find out and to let us know whether you are able to produce it, and if not why not?


MR. STRUTHERS:  So I should preface it.  This document was done for the Minister of Energy.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not sure what they would have asked us to do in response to it.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I don't know either.  But, I mean, it came into your hands at some point in time.  Fair?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We were provided with -- initially, we were provided with a summary, and then subsequently we were provided with the documentation.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And presumably you read it, and you were either delighted or outraged, and we are going to hear about that.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Probably a combination of both.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But you have -- corporately you formed an impression about the document.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I can tell you from a senior management perspective my view of the document, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And why don't you share that with us, if you don't mind?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think our concern was that, at the time, it was done in a very tight time frame, and a lot of it was not necessarily to the extent or depth that we might have one to look at stuff.  But having said that, they are an independent organization that came back with their opinion.


I think we suggested certain items that we thought that they may have missed the mark on, but it's their document.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I am going to ask you about a couple of specifics, so why don't I just get into that.  So we were about to go to attachment 3.  If I can get you to page 3.


You will see a heading at the top of the page 3 called "Opportunity Savings."  Do you see that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And as I understand, this is -- the reason I am going here is it is sort of a concise summary  -- that what KPMG did was they identified a long list of potential opportunities, and some of them they viewed as having the opportunity for some incremental savings, and others they rejected.


And what appears on this table, as I understand it, is the ones that they settled on as having some possibility of incremental savings.  Is that consistent with your understanding?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's consistent with my understanding.  I might preface this a bit by saying that the person who, obviously, knows more about it would probably be the assistant deputy minister Michael Reid, to whom, I think, this report was actually done for.  But my understanding -- and again Mr. Reid would be able to define it better -- is that KPMG was told to look at it without constraint, which meant that they were basically told to ignore certain realities that might exist in terms of coming up with some of their suggestions.


MR. STEPHENSON:  We're going to deal with that, or at least I plan on dealing with it.


What I want to do, though, is focus on the first two opportunities that are on the list, because -- simply because they're the biggest ticket items.


I am going to ask you a few questions about them, and you can either be able to answer them or tell me who I should ask.


You will see the first one is called -- is "Increase EPC," and the second one is "Outsource Forestry."  You've got those?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I do.  I see those items.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So let me flip back out of this report back to attachment 2, and, in particular, if I can take you to page 26, where the EPC issue is dealt with.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have the page.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  As I understand it -- and this isn't my acronym, Members of the Panel.  We are going to deal with that right now.  So EPC, I understand, is something called engineering procurement and construction, and so that's a Hydro One label, is it?  Or is that their label?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is a label that we use, but I am not sure that it is generic just to us.  I think it is more generic in the industry that people talk about this as EPC contracts.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And as I understand the opportunity -- and maybe you can confirm for me -- what KPMG, broadly defined, identified was -- or suggested was that Hydro One should be contracting out, sort of holus bolus, specific construction projects, and that would be a more cost-effective opportunity than managing them internally.  Broadly speaking, is that what they're talking about?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Broadly speaking, my understanding was that they were suggesting that we could -- we should be looking at doing more of what you would call turnkey.  That is, it's -- everything and everything is delivered, and you pick up the keys, and it is yours.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Does Hydro One have a view as to the magnitude -- whether or not the kind of cost savings that KPMG were suggesting was possible are, in fact, possible?


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I say, this was done -- when this review was done, it was done without constraint.  So there was an expectation, for example, that you could get out of collective agreements, and, therefore, you could take what work might have been covered within a collective agree and have a third party deliver it.


If you were able to make that happen, it's quite possible that those savings might be achievable.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And when you're talking about in this context of construction projects, you're not just talking about the collective agreement with my client, the PWU.  There is a network of different agreements that you're talking about.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  This would require effectively having to deal with collective agreements that both assist -- both exist with the Society of Professional Engineers and also with the Power Workers' Union and probably also CUSW and also LIUNA, which is another construction union, so...


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And let me just ask you this.  One of the things I couldn't understand, frankly -- and I don't know whether you can or not, but maybe you can help me.  Needless to say, you do construction -- this -- let me stop here.


This report was applicable to Hydro One both vis-a-vis its transmission business and its distribution business.  Right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  And to be fair, this one is probably more applicable to -- this particular EPC work is more applicable to transmission than it is to distribution.


MR. STEPHENSON:  That was the question I was going to ask.


You do more construction work on the transmission side, and it is larger scale on the transmission side.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  So as I say, this is much -- as a recommendation, this recommendation is much more applicable to the transmission side of the business.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so let me just -- let me just deal with that for a moment, sir.


If we can get -- if I can take you back -- I'm sorry.  We're flipping back.  But it is back to page 3 of the other document.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have that page.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so you will see on this increase EPC issue, they estimate the savings on the base case at $23 million and on the stretch case at $77 million.  Do you see that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so some proportion -- let's assume for a moment that those are valid numbers.  Okay?  Assuming they're valid numbers, not all of that $23 million in the base case is applicable to distribution.  It is a subset.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  As I say, their recommendation for EPC is more applicable to the transmission business than it is to the distribution business, because of the nature of the assets and because of the nature of the construction work that we undertake.


MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Well, let me just show you how they dealt with it in fact.  If you flip over to page 5, there's a scenario here, and you will see there's step 1, step 2, step 3, et cetera.


If you if go to step 2 --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  -- what appears to be going on here is that they are allocating the savings between transmission, on the one hand, and distribution, on the other, and between capital and OM&A.  Do you see that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And you will see that, from the chart above in step 1, the total -- the savings on EPC is all capital.  No OM&A.  It is the $23 million.  And that that $23 million constitutes virtually all of the total capital savings, which is $24.2.  Do you see that in step 1?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I see that, yes.  I see the number 24.2.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so then what they do is they go down in step 2 and they allocate that, and you will see below the box there is a note which says "note 1."  And they do regular capital savings allocation, transmission, 47 percent; distribution, 53 percent.


And they -- so they split that -- those savings on that allocation.  Do you see that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I see that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, am I right, that's not how you allocate capital projects?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No.  And if I have an issue with the simplicity with which some of this stuff was done, it would be in that they took allocations that would not necessarily be applicable and applied them.  So...


MR. STEPHENSON:  I mean, you may on some shared overheads do an allocation on that basis.


MR. STRUTHERS:  The allocation would be probably more appropriate for common costs.  It would not necessarily be appropriate for a particular capital item.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But when you have a capital project, it is specifically designated as a transmission capital project or distribution capital project.  I don't know if there is any shared ones, but most of them are specifically earmarked one way or the other, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Certainly the projects which are specific to distribution are identified as being specific to distribution.  Those that are specific to transmission are identified as transmission.  In fact, if you look at the -- how we looked at our debt borrowing in the future, you can see how we have allocated our debt, in fact, based on the D programs and the T programs, so...


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so, I mean, needless to say you don't know what projects they were looking at.  But I take it a more realistic allocation of -- assuming that there are in fact savings on EPC, would be skewed much more heavily to transmission and much less heavily on distribution.


MR. STRUTHERS:  My expectation is that would be the case.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And -- but --


MR. STRUTHERS:  T work program is more construction-oriented.  One would expect to see better -- potentially greater EPC savings in the transmission side.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it if we talked about order of magnitude we would just be guessing?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  The second issue that I wanted to spend a couple of minutes on is vegetation management.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that issue shows up in the attachment 2, starting at page 33.  Do you see that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I do.  Sorry.  You're not there -- yes, I see it, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And what we're talking about here is forestry work, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  This is forestry.  It is effectively clearing, forestry work, vegetation management.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And you do forestry work both on transmission and on distribution, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  Both lines have to be maintained.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But I think from a dollars perspective there is more on distribution on the forestry?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is certainly, if you look at the program costs, the distribution system, because of the nature of the distribution system, that's where the bulk of the forestry work is spent.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And as I understand KPMG's analysis, they make reference to this 2012 CN utility benchmarking report.  Do you see that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I see that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And essentially saying -- suggesting that, you know, other people do this differently at a cheaper cost per tree.  That is the gist of what I understood.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's my understanding of how they have paraphrased the report, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But in this hearing before, we have had lots of these benchmarking reports on forestry.  And as I understand, the critical aspect of unit cost on forestry is that it is inextricably bound up with the issue of what the cycle is, the clearing cycle, and --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that is correct.  The more you can drive the cycle to an eight-year cycle, the cost efficiencies are huge.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, in fact, it goes beyond -- and maybe this is -- I'm going to deal with this maybe with the next panel, but we have had evidence in this hearing before that the good performers on the benchmarking are on a three-year cycle.  The costs get driven down even more dramatically if you go to a three-year cycle.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yeah, if you can get it to a three-year cycle it is akin to mowing the lawn, so...


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  The problem, I take it, for Hydro One is the dollars that you have to spend today and tomorrow and then in the next few years to get you from north of eight years, which is where you are today --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  -- down to three are enormous.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  And it is also, interestingly enough, subject to weather.  So, for example, this is an excellent year for tree growth because it's been relatively cool and wet.  So it is making our life cycle or cycle issues even worse.


MR. STEPHENSON:  So, I mean, to the extent that these utility benchmarking report about forestry costs are comparing you with utilities that are on a significantly shorter cycle, it is not -- it wouldn't be surprising to you that their unit costs are much lower.  You would expect exactly that.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would expect that this other report isn't what I would say arguably overly helpful to us.


MR. STEPHENSON:  In a perfect world you would love to be on a three-year cycle if you could figure out a way of getting there without killing the ratepayers.


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I say, the difference is, instead of cutting a tree, it is like mowing the grass.  It is considerably easier.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so I take it you do not accept the validity of -- leaving aside the whole collective agreement issue, you don't accept the validity, at least from an achievement perspective, of these numbers.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think if you want to talk about programs and achievement of programs, I think that is better left to panel 3.  They can tell you sort of what the program looks like and why we're proposing spending, what we are spending, what our expectations are, and what the cost structures are.


But clearly, the more you can achieve a cycle time which is shorter, the more beneficial it is in terms of both -- of cost structures and also the amount of work you can get done.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Finally, because I didn't want to jump over it, there are serious collective agreement problems in the achievement of this objective as well.  Just like the EPC one, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  There would be significant collective agreement issues associated with this recommendation.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Mr. Struthers.  Maybe you other guys will have a chance to say something with the next questioner, but thank you.  Those are my questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.


We will take the morning break now til 11:20.


Mr. Dumka, would you be going next after the break?


MR. DUMKA:  My preference, as discussed with Ms. Lea the other day, I would prefer to go later in the testimony.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Why is that, sir?


MR. DUMKA:  Well --


MR. JANIGAN:  I am prepared to go.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I just questioned why.  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.


MR. DUMKA:  One of the reasons is that I am confident that the questions I am going to have are going to drop off.  I have already found that I think I've lost ten or 15 minutes of testimony.  There's things I won't cover.  So that is my preference for waiting until later on, because I am fairly confident, even more so now, the way things are going, that I'm going to have fewer questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  Mr. Chairman, the only caveat that we have definitely talked about as a group in this room is that my friend's questions perhaps should precede at least two other intervenors, given the nature of my friend's client and its relationship to the utility.


So we don't want him going last or second-to-last by any means.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, if they could be identified -- that was what prompted my question, Ms. Lea.  So --


MS. LEA:  We will do that over the break.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Mr. Janigan then, we will expect you after the break.  Thank you.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, Mr. Chair, we are ready to go as well, Energy Probe, at any time.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Higgin.

--- Recess taken at 10:58 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:20 a.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Please be seated.


Mr. Janigan, whenever you are ready.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Janigan:

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much, Mr. Chair.  First thing, Panel, I wonder if you have an exhibit.  I believe it is PD -- I don't have the number, but it's from May 12.  It's the 2015-2019 custom distribution rate application report from the executive panel.


MS. LEA:  It's the executive presentation, PD 1.


MR. JANIGAN:  PD 1.  Do you have that before you?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have a copy of it before me, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  If you could turn to page 13.  Is it possible to get an update on this, the smooth DX rate increase that contemplates the 6.3 percent that is now in play?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  We can do that for you.  Do you also want an update of -- I think the previous slide shows the unsmoothed.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  Yes, I think that is something that is from the undertaking from the first day, but, yes, that would be fine.


MS. LEA:  J3.4, please.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.3:  To provide updated numbers of the smooth DX rate increase contemplating 6.3 percent

DR. HIGGIN:  Mr. Chair, if I could just ask one thing?


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry.  I gave you the wrong number, J3.3.  I was counting an extra one in there.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Dr. Higgin.


DR. HIGGIN:  Could they make sure or check the numbers on the rate increases in the left there for 2013-2014, please?  To update those, if needed.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Take note of that on the undertaking.


MR. STRUTHERS:  We will do that.  I think it clearly shows sort of what portion of the increase has been driven by rate base.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.  I have some cleanup questions.  In the event that these questions are better directed to panel 3, they have been referred to panel 2 and 3 by panel 1, so if you have to pass them on, let me know.


The first question relates to an exchange I had with Ms. Frank concerning compensation incentives tied to eight outcome measures, and I just want to make sure -- in reading over, that I may have been unclear in relation to these questions, whether or not the compensation referred to the utility itself or to the staff of the utility or management of the utility for achieving outcomes.


So my question is whether or not there are any rewards or penalties that personal HR compensation reflects for achieving particular outcomes under the plan.  So do employees have any bonus or any other incentives tied to achieving a rate of return, for example?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We have a scorecard which is based on the business plan.  For management purposes, we have a short-term incentive program that is, at least partially, tied to the -- how we perform in terms of the metrics on that plan.


But the metrics on that plan really only define the size of the pot or the amount that potentially would be in the short-term incentive, and then how one is actually paid or what one receives against the short-term incentive is very much driven by one's own performance.  So there's -- there's an indirect linkage from the perspective of it sets the size of the pot.


In terms of how it would personally impact an individual in management, it would be based on their agreement with the company in terms of their expectations, how they performed, what they did during the year.


But the amount that would be available to be paid out would be based on sort of the -- how the company has done, plus how -- or how the Board views the corporation's performance.


MR. JANIGAN:  Can you be a little more specific on how the size of the pot is set by way of, you know, what are the metrics that are associated with that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  You may regret asking the question, but the pot size itself was set at a particular point in time based on a -- the government freezing management compensation.


So at that point in time, the compensation for -- available for short-term incentives could be no more than a certain amount.  And I think it is 11 million something.  That's it.


So the way the compensation, then, works is the Board reviews -- sorry, the way the compensation works for short-term incentive for management, only, the Board then reviews the company's performance and scorecard and, based on an overall assessment of that scorecard, will then decide what the size of the pot is, the pot being how much of that $11 million would be available for short-term incentives.


Once that amount is defined, then it's up to management to allocate that among the management staff based on individual's performance, and we work on a factive process which says -- we assess how individuals are doing during the year.  We assess their goals against performance.  We assess, therefore, what they might be eligible for.  Then we look at the size of the pot itself, and then what we do is sort of allocate to reward performance.


MR. JANIGAN:  Does the scorecard that is used to determine what's available, does that have any relationship to the outcome measures that are in the plan?


MR. STRUTHERS:  To a degree, they do, at least some of them do, because we're locking at getting the work done.


MR. JANIGAN:  Is it possible to get an outline of what elements are in that scorecard, in a general sense?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, we can do that.  In fact, I believe it may be available already in the material, but we can certainly that.


MR. ROGERS:  I believe the scorecard is already filed.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Janigan, was I hearing a different element?  I think the answer Mr. Struthers gave that some of the outcomes were on the scorecard, but is it that exact scorecard that is used for the assessment as to the size of the --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It is?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.


On another clean-up matter, is this the panel to which I should address the question concerning call centre volumes?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, it isn't.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would have suggested panel 1 actually, but as I can't go the other way, I guess it will have to be referred to panel 3.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. ROGERS:  There will be a witness on panel 3, I think, that can deal with that question.  There is someone on the panel who is familiar with the call centre.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe so.  Mr. Winters would probably have been actually the better person to ask the question to.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Well, actually Mr. Winters was on the first panel.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, I think what he did is ultimately pointed to panel 3, so it roosts in panel 3, I suspect.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I wonder if you could look at table 1 at Exhibit G, tab 7, schedule 1.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, could you give me the reference again?


MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.  It's table 1 at Exhibit G, tab 7, schedule 1, page 2.  And going back to an exchange I had with Ms. Frank, this apparently reflects distribution and total bill impacts that includes rate smoothing and includes deferral and variance account disposition.  Is that correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If she said that was the case, then that is what it represents.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Who prepared this table?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If it's a rate question or a question on this particular table, I would suggest Panel 4 would be the best panel to deal with the question.


MR. ROGERS:  Which I think is what Ms. Lea indicated the same thing.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I'm sorry.


MR. ROGERS:  If it is a rate impact question, panel 4 will be well equipped to deal with it.


MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  I will leave any questions on that to panel 4.


I wonder if you could turn up tab 2.01, schedule 1, Staff 6, page 2.  And as well, can you turn up Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2.


Now, on the first exhibit, being Exhibit I, tab 2.01, schedule 1, Staff 6, it is suggested that the OM&A in 2015 would have been 660 million absent productivity measures, and that would compare with 535 million that was last approved by the Board in 2011.  Is that correct?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes, that would be correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  And then absent these initiatives, therefore, the OM&A would have shot up about 23 percent from the last Board-approved to what is now being requested.


And if we would look at Exhibit I, tab 1.04, schedule 1, Staff 3, page 3, that shows GDPI, IPI inflation, it looks like inflation of that period was roughly 6.5 percent.  Can you explain why this rather substantial increase in OM&A would have occurred but for your productivity measures?


MR. SCOTT:  Can we just play that back again?  I guess I just want to follow the bouncing ball here a little bit.


MR. JANIGAN:  Sure.  You have from 2011 to 2015 an increase from 535 million to about 660 million, absent productivity initiatives.  That's about 23 percent.  If you look at the GDPI inflation over that period it is about 6.5 percent.


Why wouldn't OM&A have shot up that much over that period of time but for your productivity initiatives?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm sorry, could you take me through the numbers again?


MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  Well, we have the OM&A absent productivity measures in 2015 would have been 660 million.  And that would compare with the 535 million that was last approved by the Board in 2011.  The difference between those two numbers --


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, sir, could I ask through you, ask my friend just to slow down a little bit.  We are having trouble following --


MR. JANIGAN:  Certainly.


MR. ROGERS:  -- the arithmetic, and obviously the witnesses are too.  Maybe if we could just get a list of the three documents so we can get those open in front of us.


MR. JANIGAN:  All right.  You have tab 2.01, schedule 1, Staff 6, page 2.


MR. ROGERS:  That's the interrogatory answer for the Board Staff, yes.  Could we get that up?


MR. JANIGAN:  That is the one that shows what the figure would have been without productivity.  It is almost 660 million.  And I believe, now, the next document is an updated Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2, showing past OM&A.  All right.  And if you look down there in 2011 approved it is 535 million.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, I see that.


MR. JANIGAN:  The difference between those two figures over that period of time is roughly 23 percent.


And if you look at Exhibit I, tab 1.04, schedule 1, Staff 3, page 3, showing GDPI, IPI inflation, if you add up the figures for that period, it is roughly 6.5 percent.


So my question is, what would have caused OM&A to shoot up during that period of time almost four times what the inflation would have been over that period?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  Perhaps I can refer you, I suspect, to a different page.  Exhibit C2, tab 1, "Sched" 1, page 1 of 1.  If you can expand it, thank you.


So I think your question is really sort of what happened between 2011 and 2014?  Is that where I understand you are coming from, and why did our costs go up and in that IRM period why was our cost structure not increasing by just the amount of inflation?  In essence, is that the question?


MR. JANIGAN:  I guess certainly one -- in looking at the savings that are stated to have been achieved by productivity measures, how you reached the total of -- or how you reach your estimate of what OM&A would have been but for those productivity measures.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, I'm sorry, I may be misinterpreting what you are asking for, but what I would point out is that you will see in 2013 and 2014 income taxes went down.  That would have been primarily as a result of the Cornerstone project.  So what the company did was effectively take that money and reinvested in programs.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's why you see an increase in the total operation and maintenance and administrative expenses.  So to a degree what we've done is, we have taken the savings that resulted from Cornerstone and reinvested those in programs in order to complete the programs for our customers.


MR. JANIGAN:  But the figure that you've given in the first document is what OM&A would have been if you hadn't done the Cornerstone project.


So you can't use the productivity initiative to explain what OM&A would have been without the productivity, because it's, you know, effectively circular.


What we're dealing with is, you're pointing me to what would have been an increase in OM&A as a result of a productivity initiative.  And you said you took the money from this initiative and invested it and that's why the OM&A is higher.  But that's not what that first document shows.  The first document is attempts to show what OM&A would have been without productivity.


So I guess the question is, what would have caused OM&A to go up that amount if you had not done your productivity initiatives?


MR. STRUTHERS:  And I think if you look at the Cornerstone programs you will see that what we have been able to drive out of Cornerstone is efficiencies in terms of back-office work processes, and effectively managing to keep our head count down while the work program itself has expanded.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But then assuming the Cornerstone project did not exist, you would not have had the expenses associated with it or the money plowed back in.


Something else would have caused the OM&A to go up, and you wouldn't have had the Cornerstone productivity savings in order to reduce that.  And I guess the question is, is that what would have gone up between that period of time without the productivity initiative?


MR. STRUTHERS:  What you would have -- what you would have seen primarily is that that would have been a head count increase in order to be able to deal with some of the things that we were able to deal with through the Cornerstone project.  You would have seen underlying cost increase in order to match the work program.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  But for the purpose of this particular line of OM&A without productivity, I take it we're supposed to assume that no productivity initiatives had been undertaken, and this would have been one the state that you were in as of 2015.  Is that correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I understand the response in the interrogatory, that is correct.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And the reason it would have gone up 23 percent would have been an increasing head count.  Is that the primary --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, you would have seen a number of items.


So, for example, in that period of time, we renegotiated some of our back office operations with Inergi.  So that resulted in a cost savings that otherwise would have gone up.  So there were a number of items, work programs, things that we did to try and improve our efficiency and keep our costs down, whether it was implementing the Cornerstone project, which benefitted us from the point of view of not having to hire additional people, whether it was the outsourcing contract with Inergi, which allowed us to renegotiate it to drive additional costs down, whether it was implementation of telephony, there would have been underlying cost pressures that would have driven the costs up.


MR. JANIGAN:  So to arrive at this number, you've done it by looking at your individual productivity initiatives, estimating what they saved, then adding that amount to the OM&A from 2011.  Is that a correct summary of what you did to arrive at that number?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is my understanding of what was asked for and what was provided.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Now, in the table at Staff 6, it suggests that, in the absence of productivity measures, you would forecast your OM&A to jump up, between 2015 to 2016, by 8 percent.  See that at the bottom of the page?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I see that on the page.  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Now, why would that -- why would that have been the case?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. SCOTT:  Yes, I can assist on that.  In 2015, because we were trying to manage the impact to the bill, we were asked by the Board to see what we could do with some of the OM&A costs, and we moved some of the vegetation management costs from 2015 to 2016 to manage the costs of  -- the hit to the impact on the bill.


So we artificially moved vegetation management into 2016, removing it from 2015, so, that is, artificially moved it up.


MR. JANIGAN:  I'm sorry.  I don't know if I got that.


MR. SCOTT:  I will try it again.  When we presented the OM&A spend to the Board as part of our routine, we were asked if we could do something about the hit, the large hit to the bill in 2015, and one thing we did -- were able to do was ask the asset manager to move some of the costs out of 2015 and increase the vegetation management costs into 2016.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MR. SCOTT:  So that's why you see that jump of 8 percent in the one year from 2015 to 2016.


MR. JANIGAN:  Does that explain all of -- I mean, we have 1 percent in 2015 and 8 percent in 2016.  That is still a fairly substantial jump.  Is it all vegetation?


MR. SCOTT:  That was the major hit, yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  Now, Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1, page 4, there is a list of total annual savings from productivity measures.


And at undertaking TCJ1.02, VECC asked you to provide the total amount from which those savings were derived, that is, the total budget, for example, of the back office from which the annual savings were being made.


And the response at TCJ1.02 was that it was $109 million.  I just want to make sure I understand that response.  The undertaking asked for the total budget related to the $26.7 million, which is what is shown in -- for the back office.


Am I correct that the total budget from which the back office savings would have been taken would be $109 plus $26.7, which would be $135.7 million?


MR. AMODEO:  Let me just look at this interrogatory again.  I am just going to look at the question again:

"Provide the sum of the back office costs that you actually..."


I...


[Witness panel confers]


MR. ROGERS:  I am going to offer, if you don't know the answer, we will take an undertaking --


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  -- but if you do, answer it.


MR. JANIGAN:  What I am getting at here is -- and actually, when we asked in the technical conference, we used the back office as an example.  But what we really wanted was to find out the total amount from which these particular numbers have been taken for each one of these categories.


Is it possible to get that information, Mr. Amodeo, in an undertaking, similar to what you provided in the back office?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry.


MR. ROGERS:  I don't understand the undertaking that is being requested.  Maybe the witness does.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, I am going to refer you to Exhibit I, tab 2.04, schedule 11, EP 20.  EP 20.


There is a chart attached.  I am wondering if that gives you what you are asking for.


MR. JANIGAN:  If I could read it, I could let you know.


[Laughter]


MR. STRUTHERS:  It does tie back to the table 2 in Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1.


MR. JANIGAN:  Well, I think what we would like is, similar to what you provided with the back office, the same number for each of those categories and, pursuant to the undertaking that you first gave, a little explanation of what that means in relation to subsequent years and productivity.


So, for example, let's say in the back office, what we think you mean is, that in 2014, the total budget for this category is $135.7 minus the $23.3 that you show in the productivity savings, namely, 112 million.  Then in 2015, the total budget is 134.7 minus the 26.7.  It would be 109 million.


MR. STRUTHERS:  So I guess I am asking:  Which number would you like me to break down?  The 135?


MR. JANIGAN:  What we would like is, if you see -- if you see here that the sum of distribution back office costs is $109 million, what we would like is to have that same figure produced for the categories in table 2; namely, the business systems, business transformation, centralized operations, et cetera, et cetera.  Therefore, we can get what the budget was these productivity savings were taken from.


MR. AMODEO:  So...


MR. QUESNELLE:  Microphone, please.


MR. AMODEO:  It's on.  It's on.  Can you hear me?


MR. ROGERS:  Speak up and put the mic on, please.  Mr. Janigan is way in the back of the room.


MR. AMODEO:  Is it on now?  The light was on, so anyway...


When we did the productivity savings, we didn't necessarily look at the budget and say, okay, this is what we're going to save.  What we did is we looked at, what was the actuals per se in that area of a previous year using -- a lot of times we used 2012 as the base to say, what did we do in 2012?  How much did it cost?  This is what we're implementing now, so what savings are going to be realized?


MR. JANIGAN:  So when you gave that figure for back-office expenses of the -- what was that, 109 million?  Can you turn that up again?  109 million.  What would that have been from?


MR. AMODEO:  I'm going to have to undertake to see where that came, to see what made up that number.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Whatever you did --


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Do we have an undertaking now, that everybody understands what it is?


MR. QUESNELLE:  I believe, Mr. Janigan, you were going to try to nail it down on one example and then ask for the whole chart?


MR. JANIGAN:  Exactly.  How this was done, and then after you have explained how you did it for the distribution back office, to give me the -- a similar number for each of these different categories.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I think we can undertake to do that, because I suspect it actually is the chart that I referenced with a total on each of the lines.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.


MS. LEA:  J3.4, please.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.4:  TO EXPLAIN HOW THE FIGURE FOR BACK-OFFICE EXPENSES WAS DONE, AND TO GIVE A SIMILAR NUMBER FOR EACH OF THE DIFFERENT CATEGORIES.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.


MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much.


I wonder if you could turn up Exhibit I, tab 2.03.  And I am looking at page 2 -- sorry, schedule 6, VECC 42.  And I believe my friend, Dr. Higgin, will be exploring some of these with you, but I wanted to look at just one of the major items here to try to understand first of all what it is.


If you look down the page, there's an item called "usage of feller bunches".  Who or what are these fellers that were --


MR. AMODEO:  I can answer that.  So a feller buncher is a piece of machinery that they use for clearing trees and brush.  It is innovative in such that it reduces the number of hours and therefore the manpower to complete the program quite substantially.  I think we have about four of them in place right now, with plans to add a couple more, maybe three or four more, over the term of this filing.


MR. JANIGAN:  Getting back to my conversation with Ms. Frank and panel 1, we talked about productivity initiatives.  To paraphrase Ms. Frank's response, that she indicated that frequently it was not an entirely new activity, but a new tool that would result in Hydro One doing things differently and becoming more efficient in the result.


How did this -- I assume the feller bunchers existed before 2013, for example.  How did this constitute a new productivity initiative?


MR. AMODEO:  Well, the feller bunchers, I can't tell you how many we had back before 2013, but we have ramped up that project and added more feller bunchers, knowing that it was the way to go to reduce the program cost.


MR. JANIGAN:  So in this case the productivity initiative would have been, get more feller bunchers.


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  And finally, with respect to the rate impacts for different classes, I want to turn you to an exhibit which I discussed with Ms. Frank.


It's -- oh, this is something I am dealing with with panel 4.  I'm sorry, thank you very much, Ms. Girvan.


All right.  Thank you very much, panel.  Those are all of my questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.


Dr. Higgin?

Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, Mr. Chair.  Good morning, panel.  I would like to just start by following up with the undertaking that was given on, I think it was Tuesday -- anyway, J1.2, and just have an understanding of your response to that.


If you could pull up your copy of that, and I had a couple of questions.


Okay.  So the first question is, as you see there, the first calculation is forecasted two-fourteen distribution revenue under existing rates is 1.318-billion and is provided in Exhibit A, tab 12, schedule 2.  So could we go and look at that reference, please.


Now -- so perhaps you can help me, because somehow I can't calculate that revenue requirement from this reference.  Maybe it is me and my math doesn't work, but that's the problem I'm having first and foremost, and then we will go from there.


So either the reference may be incorrect or -- because prior to this I couldn't find the number actually corresponding.


MR. ROGERS:  If I could help, I don't know whether this is the right number, Mr. Higgin, but under 2014 retail power energy, line 1, the number is 1.3 million.


DR. HIGGIN:  No, no, no.  Sorry.


MR. ROGERS:  It's the same number.


MS. FRANK:  It's the same number.


DR. HIGGIN:  That's the number?


MR. ROGERS:  That's the number.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, well, what I would like to understand, though, is how that works within the normal revenue requirement calculation.


So let's look at, if we could pull up your revenue requirement calculation at E1, tab 1, schedule 1.  That would be...


Okay.  So to help me, because I would like to understand the breakdown of that number, the 1.318, could you insert a notional two-fourteen column in the same format as in this table?  That would be the most helpful to me to do that.  Okay?


Now, just in making --


MR. SCOTT:  We're taking that as an undertaking?


DR. HIGGIN:  Just before I ask for the undertaking, in order to deal with the number, can you verify that the revenue requirement is based on an ROE of 9.66?  That is the amount that you show as the allowed ROE for 2014.  If you want the exhibit, it is shown at Exhibit I, tab 603, schedule 6, VECC 76.


So to make sure that that calculation of the notional one is based on the fully-allowed revenue requirement.  Okay?  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  Can I just help here?  My understanding is that the first -- there's two numbers here given.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  I haven't got to them.


MR. ROGERS:  The first number is the actual -- was the revenue that would be generated by the rates that are actually in place.


The second number is the revenue that would be generated on this notional basis that Dr. Higgin is referring to, I think.


So I am not sure what else he wants.


DR. HIGGIN:  I am just trying to understand what, under the same structure that you provided, the revenue requirement in E, to provide the same number for 2014 and to be calculated, as I say, based on the fully-allowed ROE.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  I think that is the number, but I think more backup can be given, if that would help.


DR. HIGGIN:  That would be helpful.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  We will give that a number, please.


DR. HIGGIN:  We will have an undertaking for that, if you wish.


MS. LEA:  J3.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.5:  To provide more backup for the revenue requirement for 2014


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.


Now, one of my misunderstandings is that when you look at your second calculation -- and I wish you wouldn't sort of say it is my methodology, because I wouldn't agree with it.  The 1.426 billion, can you tell me exactly how that was calculated and, very importantly, what would be the underlying ROE that would result from a revenue requirement of $1.426 billion.


MR. ROGERS: In an effort to expedite here, I am instructed the return assumed there was 9.66 percent.  The witnesses maybe could confirm that, but that is my advice.


DR. HIGGIN:  With a revenue requirement of $1.426 billion?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.


MS. FRANK:  Yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thanks.  That helps.


Thank you.  I will move on now to my main cross-examination, if I could.  So I would like to start just picking up a bit more on compensation costs, and just to set the scene, could we pick up Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, which is the attachment and total compensation costs.  And that is the Mercer study, just to give you a feeling of what we're talking about here.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have the document.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So then if we could look at the table 1.  Have you table 1?  If we could pull table 1, which is on page 3 of 17 in the evidence.  That's in the evidence in Exhibit C1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 3.  That's the evidence, not the study.  I'm sorry if I misled you as to the attachment.


If we could go back to actually look at the table, which is table 1, C1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 3.  Schedule 2.  Oh, there we are.


Okay.  So this table that you provided in evidence was helpful.  It shows the historic and current results of the Mercer studies, and that is what I wanted to start from.


And there's been some discussions, so I won't spend much time on this, but just to reiterate two things:  One is that, in 2013, you are 10 percent above the market benchmark whereas you were, in 2011, 13 percent.  So that could be viewed as an improvement overall.


MR. STRUTHERS:  It would be viewed as an improvement on the -- in terms of the benchmarking, yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  So now if we look at the components there, it looks like that management, in 2011, was 17 percent below, but is now 1 percent below.  Would that be your interpretation of that number?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, that would be my interpretation that the -- on the basis of the benchmarking, the management compensation, as compared to the benchmark comparables, has increased as compared to the 2011 results.


DR. HIGGIN:  So it is a 16 percent increase relative to the prior survey, but still, importantly, to be fair, it is at about the benchmark.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.


DR. HIGGIN:  So now if we look at the others, the Society, in 2011, it was 5 percent above, and now it has gone up to 9 percent.  So it is now -- it is not as favourable.  It has increased relative to the benchmark.  Would you agree?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's what the table shows, that, as compared to the benchmarks, that the -- the favourability has declined from 5 percent to 9 percent.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  Then we come to the PWU, and, of course, the good news is they have improved relative to the 2011 results.  Okay?


But unfortunately, that's the good news.  The bad news is there they're still 12 percent above the benchmark.  Is that -- would you interpret that that way?


MR. STRUTHERS:  What it does show is that, yes, while there has been improvement where the PWU, as compared to the benchmarked comparables, was at 18 percent above market, it is now at 12 percent above market.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  I just wanted to get that information on the table as to the structure of the compensation and the benchmarking study.


MR. STRUTHERS:  If I could add something, though.


DR. HIGGIN:  Sure, please.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Part -- because this is a benchmarking study and because you're using effectively -- and what we tried to do here is we tried to use similar comparables, so what we tried to do between 2008, 2011, and 2013 is use the same group.  What we have seen, though, is we have seen a couple of those, such as Altalink, fall off, so that may distort in any particular area one of the results.


So, for example, Altalink link may have had a large engineering group which might have been equivalent to Society of Professional Engineers.  Not having them in the benchmark comparables may actually distort some of the results slightly.


So I just want to make sure it is not just a matter of compensation.  It may also be part of the benchmarking group that might have changed the results.


DR. HIGGIN:  So -- but how many comparables are there in the group altogether?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe that there are --


DR. HIGGIN:  You don't have to necessarily name all of them.


MR. STRUTHERS:  They're shown on table 2 of the actual report.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So all want to position is your remark relative to one change out of how many comparables?


MR. STRUTHERS:  But, again, the problem with benchmarking, it depends how many of those comparables would have had appear equivalent Society position, and then if I was to lose one of those comparables, what the impact might have been on the benchmarking as a result.


When we talk to Mercers about the increase in the Society, one of the answers they came back with is because the benchmarking comparables had changed, and it would have had an impact on that result.


I am not saying that you can't take something away from the increase.  I'm just saying that you've got to sort of consider that in the outcome when you look at it.


DR. HIGGIN:  Anyway, from a revenue requirement compensation perspective, it shows that the corporation -- we have to emphasize these results are for both transmission distribution --


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.  It is the corporation.


DR. HIGGIN:  -- is still 10 percent above the median.  And it is moving in the right direction.


So obviously the question then is, if your compensation costs are too expensive, then what should be done as an offset to that.  If you were a private corporation would you not reduce your prices in order to maintain your revenues and so on?


MR. STRUTHERS:  What we are -- we are effectively bound in our compensation by collective agreement structures.  Normally, what a corporation would do is it would try to find additional synergies or -- in order to offset areas where it might be high in terms of a particular cost, and that's what we currently do and continue to strive to do.


So if we can find efficiencies in the back office we will find efficiencies in the back office to try and offset some of those additional costs.


We have varying input costs, so for example copper costs change, aluminum costs change, and we're trying to find efficiencies in terms of either how we buy the stuff or other ways in trying to keep those costs down.  So it is a constant process for us to find efficiencies to keep costs down, and particularly if you think of it through an incentive ratemaking period, the company would be incented to do that, and we continue to be incented to continue to use those processes.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  And directly, you have had the conversations with my friend from PWU.  You strive to do well in the bargaining process.


MR. STRUTHERS:  We strive to negotiate a fair deal, yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  So what I would like to do though, understand the big driver for compensation which underlies all of this is the staffing, the number of staff expressed as FTEs.


So we would like to have a look at Hydro's staffing plan and how that relates to this envelope of compensation.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.


DR. HIGGIN:  Which is only one of many envelopes that feed into the overall OM&A and so on, but let's just stay within that envelope.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.


DR. HIGGIN:  So for context, could we pull up Exhibit I, tab 4.04, schedule 1, Staff 75.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have that document, yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  What I would like to focus on is, is the head count or the number of staff expressed, I think you can confirm, in terms of FTE equivalence.  Is that how this chart is created?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's my understanding, that this is supposed to reflect FTE, yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So if we look at this, you see -- and we will come to it in a minute -- a very big increase in two-thirteen to fourteen.  And if you look at the subsequent graphs below, you can see where those two big increases are.  And they are related primarily to the "casual" line and also to "temporary".  Would you agree?  That is the primary -- I'm not saying the only, but primary uptick from '13 to '14.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  But I would like to preface my comments, because the results to 2013 are year-end numbers.  So what you're seeing on the graph is head count as at the end of the year.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right, agree.


MR. STRUTHERS:  What you're seeing from 2014, '15, '16, '17, '18, '19, particularly for temporary and casual, would be arguably the average number of employees through the year.


So for example, in 2013 we had approximately 2,800 casual employees at a high level and approximately 1,600 at a low level.  At the end of the year, the number that you see there is 1,718.


You have to understand that the work program fluctuates during the year, and as a result we will have more employees during the peak work season and fewer employees at the end of the year.


So you've got an apples and oranges chart here.  You've got apples up to 2013 and, going past 2013, in 2014 you are looking at average number of employees during the year.  And it is distorting the results as shown by the graph.


DR. HIGGIN:  We will go there, but we're going to also talk about the payroll budget and how that --


MR. STRUTHERS:  I suspect the two are related, so -- okay.


DR. HIGGIN:  I think you would expect I was going to go there, since I sent a chart to your counsel the other --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, thank you.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.


So the other thing is there is some explanations which are quite interesting, but probably won't in time look at, but I would recommend people to have a look at the responses to VECC 72 and 73 as to what are the drivers on this.


And one of the interesting things is that retirees are coming back to participate in the work programs as casual and temporary employees.  Am I correct about that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, they have the -- through the hiring-hall process they have the ability to come back through the hiring hall.  The advantage to the company of actually having retirees come back is that we're getting a skilled trade force that understand our operations and understand how we work, and as a result they can hit the work program the first day they're there, and they can do the work.


They have the ability to retire.  They have looked at the option, taken the retirement, and then they have looked at the opportunity.


DR. HIGGIN:  As counsel for PWU said, they don't pay any pension contributions, but in fact they are receiving their pension at the same time.  That's the point, right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  You are correct.  That is exactly what they would be doing.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So --


MR. STRUTHERS:  But having said that, it is advantageous to the company.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  That wasn't the focus of where I was going to go.


So could we bring up the exhibit I sent to Hydro One and intervenors.  It hasn't got an exhibit number, and that would perhaps be one of the things to do.


MS. LEA:  K3.2.

EXHIBIT NO. K3.2:  DOCUMENT FROM DR. HIGGIN ENTITLED "HYDRO ONE EMPLOYEES AND COMPENSATION PAYROLL".


DR. HIGGIN:  If we could look at that exhibit.


MS. LEA:  What is the title of the exhibit, Dr. Higgin?

DR. HIGGIN:  Hydro One employees and compensation payroll.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


DR. HIGGIN:  That's the -- so that shows the Hydro One employees as the blue line and the scale on the right, and -- the payroll, and it is taken from the reference at the top of the table.  And that's the source of the information, which is actually C1-3-2 attachment.  So that is where it is taken from.


So the question I am having here, first of all, can we understand what happened to have this big increase, and what was the staffing policy change that appears to be something like that that happened that would result in this steep increase in both compensation and staff?


I am focusing on the policy change element, because you are here really to talk about policy.  So what was the big policy change then?


MR. STRUTHERS:  And this goes back to my earlier point.  When I talk -- so 2013 is year-end actuals.  So that is December 31st, 2013.


At that point in time we would be running approximately to our low number, in terms of casual trades, because most of the work program has slowed down.  A lot of the forestry program isn't being done because we are now dealing with snow.


So what you have is, you have a point in time.  If you look at 2014 -- and in fact, if you actually go to the table, Exhibit C1-3-2 -- and it is attachment 2.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Which I think is what your graph is based on.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Which page are we looking at?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think if you look at the second page -- and unfortunately, we're going to be looking at pages 2 and 3.


So let's go back down or up to page 2.  And if I can point out at the bottom of that page, it indicates the casual number of workers is 1,781.


DR. HIGGIN:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. STRUTHERS:  And s I say, this is a year-end number.  During the year the number of casual employees would have been anywhere between 2,800 and 1,600.  That would give you average an FTE equivalent in the 2,200 range or 2,300 range, because it is average work force.


So if I now go down to the 2014, and I look at the casual number, the 2283, that is an FTE equivalent, but it is the average FTE equivalent in the year.  If you want to compare 2014 to 2013, the best thing to do is go back up to 2013, take out the number 1,781, and insert a number which is closer to 2,300 or 2,200, and that will give you a comparable number.


So what you will actually see is you will see that the compensation and the head counts are equivalent between the years.


DR. HIGGIN:  All right.  Now, the compensation, let's go to that.  My chart shows the compensation jump by 96 million; payroll jumps by $96 million over -- and that's a 12 percent increase over 2013.


So just from a financial point of view, isn't that material?  And that was driven by a big increase in head count FTEs.  It's gone up by 96 million or 12 percent.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  So if I can go back, I hate to go back to the chart, but if I can go back to the chart that we were looking at before.


You will see that these are effectively average based, pay based on the number of individuals.  So that's how the calculation is done on the right-hand side.


So what you do is you take the base pay, divide it by the number of employees.  That gives you the average base pay.  Correct?


If you were to take or replace the 1,781 with approximately 2,200, you would see -- or roughly 500 more individuals, you would see that the payroll would increase by $27 million.  So that number of -- if I can find it -- at least under base pay, 589 would be increased by 27 million.


And so that's -- that -- just using an average number of employees increases that number.


If you then take the fact that the wage has to be increased by 2 percent and you look at some of the other elements, you can come to a fairly close number.  But the bulk of the increase is because of how we are dealing with average versus year end.  The chart uses them differently.  It is year end up until 2013, and then after that it uses average full-time employee.  As I say, it is an apples and oranges chart.


So to try to take the wage amount from 2013 and say it is comparable to 2014 isn't the case.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So where is there a comparable chart that would provide a real comparison year over year for -- over the plan?  Is there one?


MR. STRUTHERS:  In historic years, I --


DR. HIGGIN:  Well, I don't mind whether it's --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, in order to make it apples to apples, you would have to use --


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  -- you would have to go back and not use a year-end, December 31st.  You would have to use an average.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Okay.  So could you provide that information?  Because I think it is critical to understand this change and if it's an apples-to-oranges comparison.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Apples to oranges, yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  We would appreciate you clarifying that for us.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe we probably can.  I am not sure how much work is involved in it, but I think we can probably come up with some estimates as to what the full-time FTE equivalent in casual would have been, average for the year.  We would look at the highs, lows, and come up with an average.


MR. ROGERS:  Can we take that under advisement?  Let me see what is involved, but we will certainly try to comply, and if not, I will advise the Board why.  I am quite content to give an undertaking to see what can be done and report back.


MS. LEA:  J3.6.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.6:  To provide an average estimate for the year of the full-time FTE equivalent in casual


DR. HIGGIN:  Just to clarify why we're so interested in that is the obvious jump, the 12 percent.  We want to understand all of the reasons and the comparison to history and going forward with the plan.  That's why we would like such a comparison to be done on a proper basis, Mr. Chair.


MR. ROGERS:  And, indeed, if the 12 percent is actually representative of reality.


DR. HIGGIN:  Exactly.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I was wondering if I could raise because we are on this specific undertaking just to clarify for the undertaking.


Mr. Struthers, you are using -- I want to be clear in differentiating the term FTE from head count.


And my understanding from what you were just saying is some of the charts used year end head count, and some use average head count.


MR. STRUTHERS:  So in this specific chart, okay, the 2013 -- the historic numbers or actuals, they're actual as at year end.  They're real people sitting in seats at year end or doing work or however you want to describe it.


If you look at the 2014 number, they are based on our target, where we're driving our business plan numbers to.  And the FT - the casual number is effectively looking at the work program and saying, "That needs to be done by roughly 2,200 people."


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  No.  But I just want to differentiate the difference between FTE, which is a calculation of sort of a full-time equivalent, versus an average head count because those are two different metrics.  I just want to make sure.


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you take my high 2,600 and you take my low 1,600, and you average them out together in terms of casual, you will end up with an FTE equivalent in the 2,200 or 2,300 range.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I think you mean you will end up with an average head count of that range.


MR. STRUTHERS:  You will end up with an average FTE, because FTE is the amount of work that is being done.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Okay.  So it --


MR. STRUTHERS:  So it's the work over the period done by, on average, how many people?  Full-time equivalents.


MS. HARE:  Well, actually I don't understand that either --


MR. STRUTHERS: Sorry.


MS. HARE:  -- because the casual could be working --


MR. STRUTHERS:  I made it more complex.


MS. HARE:  -- three days a week.  That doesn't translate to three full-time equivalents.  That would translate to 0.6, wouldn't it?  Or whatever the math is.  Yes, .6.


So I think the FTE is the better measure, not head count.  And I don't see how you're saying they're the same.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.  So I agree with you FTE is the better way to do it, and that is how we do the calculations.  I'm just saying that, in order to arrive at an FTE number, a historic number, what I will have to do is I will have to approximate what that FTE number would have been looking at effectively and how many casual employees we had on a monthly basis to equate to a FTE.


MR. QUESNELLE:  With the assumption, I think, to remove the -- what interference in that number may exist, from what I think what Ms. Hare is saying is that the assumption being that a casual employee is a full-time while they are on the head count list?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  Sorry, yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


DR. HIGGIN:  Do we have a number for that?  I'm sorry.


MR. QUESNELLE:  It was provided.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  I provided it as J3.6.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you very much.  I would like to move now to talk a bit more about the productivity improvements that are in the plan.


We can perhaps just start with Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1, page 4, table 2, which has been put up before, just to give us an orientation, as I would suggest, to this particular topic.


Maybe I have the wrong reference.  It is the chart that shows the productivity savings.  Just let me find it.  No, the chart.


MS. FRANK:  I want the reference.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  The reference I gave you, if it is correct, is E, tab 19, schedule 1, page 4, table 2.  There it is, yes.  Okay.


Now, as you can see -- and it's been discussed with you -- the flattening out going into the future, and you are not able to make as much in productivity savings during the planned period as in the historic period.


In other words, you had, as is shown there, about 90 million in savings up to the bridge year and about 40 million.  Those are just round numbers.


So that's the orientation of where we are.  If there is anything you would like to add to that, I think there's been enough testimony onto that.  But I will give you a chance, Mr. Amodeo, to add anything, if you want, to that scenario.


MR. AMODEO:  Okay.  I think earlier Ms. Lea asked me a question about, you know, the majority of these savings, because there are three big ones, being back office, business systems, and business transformation.  They are the biggest ones.


And the question was:  Are they old?  And I guess I should have asked define old because some of them are older than others, but some of them are actually current.


And even with the age of them being maybe last year or current, I mean, it isn't as if they're staying stagnant.  Some of them are actually moving up a bit as we go into further years.


So I don't think we're in a position now where we're trying -- where we're being stagnant at all.  I mean, we are trying to improve upon our initiatives and improve upon our productivity.


It is what we know right now, five years out, and as somebody else mentioned earlier, I mean, your forecast is only as good as it is when you're doing the forecast.  The further out you go, you know --


DR. HIGGIN:  So we could compare to -- the historic savings to like vintage wine, right?


MR. AMODEO:  I guess.

[Laughter]


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So what I would like to do now is to look at VECC 42, which is Exhibit tab 2.03, schedule 6, VECC 42.  This will be an eye test for everyone.  This is the chart that shows all of the historic and projected savings.


And the good news is that I am only going to talk about three of the lines on here, and hopefully to illustrate some things.  Those lines that I will be focusing on are Cornerstone, which, as you said at the technical conference, is phase 1 and 2 and 3 and 4, which are otherwise called AA, CIS and ADS.  Am I correct?


MR. AMODEO:  AIP, I believe.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Sorry, yes.


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  And then we will also talk a bit about the Inergi contract extension.  It is further down.  There we are.  The contract extension and contract replacement.  Those are the two main areas that I will focus on.


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  So the first question is about Cornerstone.  And as you know, we had a discussion at the technical conference on that.


So the first question is, can you confirm that Cornerstone is, in essence, complete?  And that is -- it's done, dusted, and in place, and apart from a few tweaks on things such as CIS, it is done.  All of the main investment capital-wise is done, and it is now pretty well finished.


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.  I mean, most of it is in sustainment now.  I mean, CIS we're still working on, as I think everybody knows, but for the most part the capital investment part of it, I believe, is complete.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So then the big question that everybody in the intervenors has is this question as to why are savings being shown indefinitely?  If we were to extend this chart out -- let's now go past 1990 to 19 -- 2029, it would still be on the chart.


MR. AMODEO:  Well, I mean, I guess our logic in showing our savings is if we do something it does carry on each year, because we are getting those savings each year.


I mean, it is a good question as to when do you axe it and say, okay, we're starting again.  And I don't think, as -- I don't think we have really decided when that happens, but it is a very interesting question, and actually I question it myself as to when do we say, okay, let's stop tracking this.


DR. HIGGIN:  So would you have any opinion, based on your thinking about this?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, perhaps I can help in this situation.  There is an expectation for a certain period of time, and software is arguably no more than seven years before you have to go back and replace the entire underlying -- so these don't go on indefinitely or infinitely.


I think a good example is the Inergi contract.  So the Inergi contract in its current form comes to an end.  There is an expectation that I will be able to negotiate the numbers that I have on this page in a new contract.


DR. HIGGIN:  We will actually go and look at that in a minute.


So you said it depends on the type of assets or system, and so for --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Or whether that type of savings can be sustained.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Okay.  And also going into that, there may be capital and other additions that would have to happen in order to maintain those savings.


For example, version 4.2 of the software would have to be bought.  And those type of maintenance and upgrade costs would have to be incurred, correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.


DR. HIGGIN:  So there are some costs to even maintain the system and to maintain the benefits from the plan.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  So the question I think we also have is, go back to the benefits realization plan for Cornerstone.  Let's just go and have a look at that.  And that would be found -- I think it is Staff number -- let me just find the number here for you.  Yes, that would be Staff 62, which is tab 4.02, schedule 1, Staff 62.


So the first page shows the historic, and this is -- I think we have checked this in the past at the technical conference.  This is in essence -- we will talk about that -- the Benefits Realization Plan shows all of the four phases on this particular plan --


MR. AMODEO:  Hmm-hmm.


DR. HIGGIN:  -- compared to the chart we were just looking at.  They're all in here, right, on this chart?


MR. AMODEO:  The four phases are in here, but the chart we were just looking at, they're in here as well, but they're scattered.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, exactly.  So I would like to look at it in a larger context.


Then if we turn the next page, you see a projection for the plan period from the two-fourteen forecast, et cetera, up to two-nineteen.


So the first question is, I couldn't get an exact reconciliation between these numbers and the ones in VECC 42.  There were changes -- there were slight differences.  Have you ever checked that to see if there are differences?


MR. AMODEO:  I believe this chart in Staff 62 is including both TX and DX.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  And therefore that's the key.  The allocation has been made.  And how has the allocation been made?  Is that based on Black & Veatch's assessment of the assets and costs?


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.  It's --


DR. HIGGIN:  It is using those two numbers, which is, if I remember, it's 56 to transmission, et cetera.  What are the -- can you tell me what those allocation numbers were, please?


MR. AMODEO:  Oh, for this?


DR. HIGGIN:  This is for this type of asset, of course.
MR. AMODEO:  Yes.  It would have been the most recent Black & Veatch, which -- I would have to get back to you on that.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  No problem with that.  I just think we would like to -- we want to try to reconcile --


MR. QUESNELLE:  Just a minute.  Let him answer
your --


MR. SCOTT:  I can get you that answer.  Just hold on.


DR. HIGGIN:  You can?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.  Yes, the Black & Veatch study that was done in 2013 on page 6 is showing 46 percent -- 46.5 percent transmission and 50.7 percent distribution.


DR. HIGGIN:  That's the aggregate number for all common costs, correct?  That's the summary aggregate number.  There could be a different number for this type of particular asset.


MR. SCOTT:  That could be.


DR. HIGGIN:  And that's the number we're looking at.  Because I am trying to reconcile the benefits plan to table 42, and I am having a problem doing so.


MR. SCOTT:  You're trying to understand what was used in this case?


MR. ROGERS:  We will undertake to do that to keep this moving.


DR. HIGGIN:  Can you reconcile the result to table 42, meaning, if you take Staff 62 and you take 42 for Cornerstone and ensure that the totals are comparable, within reason.  I'm not going to worry about -- would you be able to do that, please, as well?


MR. QUESNELLE:  The undertaking will be the reconciliation of those two documents, as opposed to just providing the corporate split between TX and DX.


DR. HIGGIN:  That's correct, sir.


MS. LEA:  J3.7.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.7:  TO PROVIDE THE RECONCILIATION OF THE TWO DOCUMENTS REFERENCED.

DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.


One minute until I get back to my notes.


Now, I would like to come back to that table, which is the VECC 42, which is, again, tab 2.03, schedule 6.  If we can blow up enough to see the line "Inergi contract extension and Inergi contract replacement".  Okay.  Can we try to see that line?  Okay.  I knew we were going to have some problems with the visual here.


But could we perhaps focus on the numbers where the cursor is to the right, there, the 23,287?  Do you see that number there?  Okay.  So that number is the savings from the current Inergi contract extension.  Am I correct?


MR. AMODEO:  Yes, 2014 forecast.


DR. HIGGIN:  2014.  And if we go slightly to the right and one column down, we see the savings from the contract extension that is projected.  Correct?


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  And then we come back to this fundamental question of where do the savings from, in the first place, the outsourcing Inergi start and end.  And where does the replacement start and end?


Is there 3.4 million delta between the two?  Is that what we should -- how we should think of it, that, all things being equal, Inergi would have continued, and there would have been savings of 23.3 million?  Correct?


And the new contract, they will be a bit higher, 3.4 million.


MR. AMODEO:  Right.  It goes up to 26.7 using the same base as the 23.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Okay.  So that is good.  We now then want to ask this question is that:  What is the basis of the 26.7?


You stated that the savings are estimated usually looking at historic, and basically you used 2012 as an example for many of them --


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  -- and so on.  So the question is:  What is the basis of the 26.7 and the 3.4 delta in savings that would be available as a productivity savings?


MR. AMODEO:  Yes.  So the base that we're comparing that to, to get the savings is the same base that 2014 is compared to, which was the original contract with Inergi before we established the Inergi contract extension.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  So that still hasn't asked -- answered the second question:   How did you determine that the new contract was going to cost 3.4 million -- produce $3.4 million of incremental savings over the extension?


MR. AMODEO:  Okay.  So we're actually working on that right now.  There is a team that is negotiating that, and that's their best estimate at this point in time of what the savings will be.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So perhaps we will talk about the Inergi replacement as a separate topic, which I can move on to now.


And so if we could turn up C1, tab 2, schedule 7, page 4 in your evidence.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes, I have that document.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.  And this describes, in some detail, the process.  And on page 4 particularly, I would like to just highlight there, as you've got, the bar, that paragraph on page 4.


MR. STRUTHERS:  This is in respect to the benchmarking?


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  So this deals with the benchmarking of the existing Inergi contract.  And in general terms, the consultant study, which has been filed here, shows that Inergi does not exceed the benchmark price as defined in the current agreement.  Is that interpreting that correctly?


MR. STRUTHERS:  You are interpreting that correctly.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  So as a result, there were no changes to the fees being charged as of March 1, 2014, and those fees are the ones where you now have the incremental additional productivity savings built in for 2014.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  There would be no change to the 2014 fees, yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  But the level of those fees is giving you $24.7 million in productivity savings.  Correct?


MR. AMODEO:  In 2014, 23.23, I believe.


DR. HIGGIN:  Sorry.  Thank you for the correction.


MR. AMODEO:  Right.


DR. HIGGIN:  So can we now look at page -- the C1, page 11, which talks a bit about the RFP.  And specifically on that page, I would like to take you to a couple of points that I noticed and perhaps get your input.


So on page 11, at the top of the page, can you explain to me this particular paragraph at the top of the page regarding the new outsourcing contract and the RFP?  Could you just explain what that means?


MR. STRUTHERS:  So am I -- I'm assuming you're referring to the December 10th statement.  Is that what you're referring to?  Or just generally the RFP process?


DR. HIGGIN:  Well, generally, it says the strategy, which I assume is the procurement strategy.  Correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Correct.


DR. HIGGIN:  Was impacted, et cetera.  So perhaps you could just explain that, please.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Explain what that Power Workers' Union agreement --


DR. HIGGIN:  What the impact might be of that, yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  So the Power Workers' Union grieved whether the company had the right to put this contract out, effectively whether they had the right to do it or whether the work had to come back to the company itself and be subsequently negotiated.


The company reached an agreement with the Power Workers' Union that, in effect, did the following.  It recognized the Power Workers' Union's rights to be able to do the work.  The work is located in Ontario, so the Power Workers' Union's rights we're effectively recognized.


And so the RFP document needed to be amended in order to advise the proponents that the Power Workers' Union had the right to that work and that Hydro One would expect them to have at least dealt with the Power Workers' Union in order to be able to do that.


DR. HIGGIN:  What would be the potential impact on the labour costs related to the new contract?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, I'm not a lawyer, so I will stand to be corrected --


DR. HIGGIN:  No, neither am I.


MR. STRUTHERS:  -- by the lawyers in the room.


DR. HIGGIN:  We can talk to one another.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Thank you.  My understanding is that the union would have the right to that work regardless of whether it was done by Inergi or done by a third party, and as the work is located in Ontario, then that work, effectively, would be done by a Power Workers' Union employee in the future, as it was currently being done by the Power Workers' Union employee in Inergi.  It wouldn't necessarily be the same person, but it would certainly be their work.


DR. HIGGIN:  And the Power Workers' benchmarks, the benchmark study shows that that would have a premium of about 9 percent above the benchmark.  Is that correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  So you're correct.  The benchmarking study in Mercer shows that, at least for Hydro One, that is the case.


The issue is whether the proponent can absorb that cost or pass it through.  So in their pricing that they would charge Hydro One in a competitive pricing environment, would those costs be charged through, or would they be absorbed, or would they expect to find efficiencies that would allow them to keep their costs in a competitive manner?  I can't answer that.


DR. HIGGIN:  So you are projecting that there will actually be additional savings of $3.4 million.  Correct?  Despite that constraint?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would say that is a projection, and it is an objective the company is trying to attain.


The risk as to whether that is achieved is the company's risk.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  Now, are there any other constraints on the company?  I believe there may be one.  I didn't have a particular reference, but am I correct that the Minister gave a directive regarding where this work should be sourced, and that had to be sourced completely in Ontario as opposed to any other province or India or anywhere else.  Is that understanding correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I believe that the directive is actually shown at I-3.01-9, and it is SEC 24.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right, thank you.


So again, in terms of what your take would be potentially on the impacts on the costs of the outsourcing from this constraint.


MR. STRUTHERS:  So again, it really depends on the ability of the provider, the new provider, to be able to absorb those additional costs as to what Hydro One would ultimately be charged.


DR. HIGGIN:  So a question I think that you would anticipate is, when you get the contract, will you be able to benchmark that contract as per you did with the Inergi contract to ensure that the contract costs and the six functions that were in the report, that make up that spread of services, are within the benchmark?  Would you be able to continue to do another benchmarking study when you get the contract?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It obviously was negotiated between the vendor and Hydro One, but my expectation is that we will also look for a benchmarking component within that contract.  It's been very helpful to us and ensures that we are getting services that are effectively at cost, benchmarkable costs.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.


I have one question then -- maybe this is a break -- where we could break -- and that is, what would you -- how would you respond to, if the contract costs, once you get them, are higher or lower than forecast, and that includes obviously the productivity savings piece and so on, what would happen if that happened that would affect all common costs --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  -- for both you and transmission, and if it was higher or not, and how does that fit with your materiality considerations regarding the impact on revenue requirement?


MR. STRUTHERS:  My expectation is that it would -- well, it clearly depends on what we're able to negotiate as to what the number is.


But if it is within the $7.5 million, then we will have to find a way to -- if the costs are higher, we will find a way to deal with it.  I can better define that for you, but my expectation is that those costs would have to be found, absorbed.


MR. ROGERS:  If I could just interrupt again.  It is my understanding of the plan -- I am trying to be helpful here -- is that this is something that would be within management's control.  I think the company would have to live with it.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I anticipate that they would be -- we would manage it, deal with it, and find a way to get it resolved.


DR. HIGGIN:  So there is no plan, other than getting approval of your board, to report the forward costs for the replacement contract to the OEB or anyone else outside of your own board of directors?  Is that my understanding?  You will not disclose those costs?  Because under a normal process of procurement, then that is quite often done.  The winning bid costs are made public.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am assuming there would be a press release, which would indicate -- I am sure the vendor would want to have a press release indicating that they won the RFP and what those costs of that RFP were.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions on the outsourcing and so on.  I have a few after the break.  If you would like to take the break now, that would be good for me, unless you wish me to continue.


MR. QUESNELLE:  How much longer do you have, Mr. Higgin?  You are considerably over your estimated time at this point.


DR. HIGGIN:  Approximately ten minutes now.


MR. QUESNELLE:  You will be here this afternoon.  You planned on being here this afternoon anyway?


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, let's break then.  We will break until two o'clock.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much.

--- Luncheon recess at 12:57 p.m.
---Upon resuming at 1:59 p.m.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Good afternoon, everyone.  Please have a seat.


Any issues arising, Mr. Rogers?
Procedural Matters:


MR. ROGERS:  Just one, sir.  We have some undertakings to file, and we have taken the liberty of providing a copy of each to each member of the Board.  So filed this afternoon are J2.3, J2.4, J2.5, J2.8, J2.11, and J2.13.  And you'll find those stapled together, I think, a copy for each of you.  No?  You don't like staples.  I will see that that is corrected.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you very much.


[Laughter]


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Thank you.  Okay.  With that, Dr. Higgin, you can carry on with where you left off.
Continued Cross-Examination by Dr. Higgin:


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you, sir.  You will be glad to see I am only about five minutes away.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  So if we could start and move to the area of common costs and the allocation of common costs.


And the reference that I would use to introduce this topic would be C1, tab 5, schedule 1, and the attachment, which is the Black & Veatch study that I think we talked a bit about this morning.  I believe it is page 308 of the PDF file.  Thank you.


Just by way of introductory question, could the Panel just indicate to everybody what this study, this particular study, is, and what area of costs does it address.


MR. SCOTT:  Yes, Dr. Higgin.  Yeah.  The study addresses the allocation of our costs between our T&D in various subs for all our corporate common costs.


DR. HIGGIN:  So there would be called acronyms CCFS costs.  Is that correct?  Could you give us all of the proper acronyms for it?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes, that is a part of it.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So the question then is, if we go to page 1, the summary, and the question is:   How often -- no.  First of all, why do you do this study, number 1, and how often do you do it?


MR. SCOTT:  This study would be done every time there is an application for rates, and we would do it to ensure that we properly -- properly get the split between these costs for our transmission and distribution, our various subs.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  And just if you look at the table, it would appear that, since 2006, there's been actually six studies done in that period, including, of course, the one that we have in front of us, which is actually 2013.  Is that correct?


MR. SCOTT:  That's correct.


DR. HIGGIN:  So it seems to be about every couple of years or maybe, as you said, driven by a rate application.


So then the obvious question is you said why it's done, and why would you need to do it every couple of years or every now and then rather than not doing it every five years or ten years?  Why would you need to do this study?


MR. SCOTT:  Our business changes over time.  The work that is done in the various groups will change focus between the distribution and the transmission business.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  I think that is a pretty good answer.  And what I am concerned about -- and I will put it right up -- is that, during the period of the plan, your business is going to play -- going to change significantly, perhaps, both between transmission and distribution, but as far as I know -- and this is going to a technical conference question that I put to Ms. Frank at page 82 of that -- we don't need to turn it up.  Her response was:   You have no plans to update these allocations during the five year plan.  Is that correct?


MR. SCOTT:  That's correct.


DR. HIGGIN:  So let's just challenge -- I will challenge that assumption.  Okay?


So if the common costs structure changes between distribution, transmission, and the affiliates, then there may be, my proposition, a requirement.


So let's look at that.  Could we turn up Exhibit I, tab 4-4, Energy Probe 32?  That's correct.  And perhaps we can go to the top of the page, please, and look at the preamble.


MR. SCOTT:  Sorry.


DR. HIGGIN:  I will give you a moment to look at it.


MR. SCOTT:  Dr. Higgin, let me catch up a bit here.


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes.  Okay.


MR. SCOTT:  Thank you.


DR. HIGGIN:  Sorry, I am not trying to rush you.


MR. SCOTT:  Okay.  I've got the -- oh, maybe I don't.  Wrong one.  Sorry.  Sorry, wrong one.  Okay.  Now I am now here.


DR. HIGGIN:  So we've just got to focus on my preamble, which is actually an excerpt from your pre-filed evidence, and it talks about the latest study, and it talks about what was done as part of that study.  You would agree?  And that included updating what we would call a time study, looking at how the service providers within the company spend their time relative to transmission, distribution, and the affiliates.


Would you agree that is what is being described here?


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.  Within the group of CCF and F&S.  That's correct.


DR. HIGGIN:  Providing the CCFS, an acronym, services.


Okay.  So what did the time study show?  It is in the top paragraph.  It showed that 10.8 million or 2.4 percent of common costs should be shifted from distribution to transmission.  Is that what the conclusion was of the time study?


MR. SCOTT:  I would have to look in the details of the time study, but subject to check, I will just accept that.


DR. HIGGIN:  Right.  That is from your evidence, as we say.


MR. SCOTT:  Okay.


DR. HIGGIN:  So my main point is coming back to my proposition that updating of the allocations of costs between distribution, transmission, and affiliates on a relatively frequent basis, one to two years, is something that is important.  10.8 million, if you put that as against your threshold of materiality of 7.5 million, you could confirm that that's well above that threshold.


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I think we have said before, the company's willing to sort of absorb any of the changes that occur as a result of itself.  So I think the 7.5 million was actually relating to a third party that would have -- or a third-party influence that would have created that 7.5 million revenue requirement.


Just with respect to common corporate costs.  While there is an allocation, they also -- those common-area costs also get allocated to capital and OM&A.


DR. HIGGIN:  Oh, yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  So $10.8 million itself doesn't translate into a revenue requirement of $10.8 million.


DR. HIGGIN:  Actually, if we go into the study we will find that there are other cost shifts as well.  I just focused on one of them.


My point anyway is I was trying to get a reaction from you that I think it is material to -- because of the combined common costs, payroll, everything else between transmission and distribution, that those allocations should be reviewed periodically.  And if there is a material change -- that's my proposition -- they should be updated.


So please respond now, relative to the undertaking, which was that we're not going to do it.


MR. ROGERS:  Sorry, I don't understand the question, sir.  I think they were asked at the technical conference whether they intended to do it, and they said no, and I heard Mr. Struthers just say that they're consistent, they don't propose to do it, they don't think it's necessary.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And I think what Dr. Higgin's saying now that he's elaborated as to what his concern -- do you want a response to your concern?


DR. HIGGIN:  Yes, if they have any additional response, given the concern.


MR. STRUTHERS:  We stand by, I think, what we presented in the technical conference, and what we reiterated, that we don't believe it is necessary for that change to occur.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  Thank you.


So let's go back to one other area about the allocation of costs.  This would be the costs of capital.  And specifically, I am going to focus on the cost of the long-term debt, okay?  So if we could look at -- reference Exhibit I, tab 6.02, schedule 1.  That is Energy Probe 44.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have the document, yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  So can we just look at the preamble again?  That expressed our concern about the allocation of the long-term debt costs between distribution and transmission.  That was why we asked the question.  And there's been some discussion on this.


First of all, it is on the record that Hydro One will update all of the long-term debt costs on an annual basis.


Our other question was -- and this is what is here on this:  Will the costs be mapped based on actuals to transmission and distribution and, if so, will that also be done on an annual basis as part of that update?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think we respond in that interrogatory, I think in the last page of page 2, that the actual amount of debt issued by Hydro One and mapped to TX and DX will be based on the actual borrowing requirements of each business.  I think -- does that answer your question?


DR. HIGGIN:  Well, only in respect of the question of, will that be done annually as part of the cost-of-capital update?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The answer to that is yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  Okay.  So when we look at the table, this is your current projection for the long-term debt issues over the plan period.  And that as we know is both for TX and DX, both organizations.


And therefore what we would say is that, starting from this, any adjustments of the amounts of debt and the coupon rates and everything else will be updated annually and, therefore, the costs of capital for each organization will more reflect the actual costs.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is the intent, yes.


DR. HIGGIN:  Thank you.  That was my question.  That's all my questions, thank you, Mr. Chair.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Dr. Higgin.


Are you prepared to go now, Mr. Dumka?

Cross-Examination by Mr. Dumka:


MR. DUMKA:  Yes, yes, so I am here for the Society of Energy professionals.  I've got a series of questions, and hopefully the first bunch of them Mr. Struthers won't have to answer, so he can rest his voice a touch.


What I want to get into -- and I will just point to A-19-1.  That's the productivity exhibit.  That's the general area I have a few questions.


And I think they're going to end up with Mr. Amodeo eventually, but what I would like to get from Mr. Scott, seeing as how he is at the centre of the business plan budgeting process for Hydro One, I want to get a sense of how the work programs are costed out over the one- to five-year period, because I am a little bit confused with some of the information we have gotten from Mr. Amodeo.


So pick a work program.  It could be vegetation management or whatever else, station refurbishment.


How do the managers accountable for those work programs -- what is the basis of their costing, you know, the unit costs?  We have heard from Mr. Struthers a number of times the assumption of 2 percent a year is the assumed increase in compensation costs.


So I am curious as to how you would cost out the other components of your work program if you are doing a capital build, the cost for, I don't know, transformers, cabling, or whatever else.


How do the engineers, the managers out there, who present their stuff and it gets rolled up, how do they do the costing?


MR. SCOTT:  I think you would have to -- I will take a shot at it, and you might want to clarify a little bit in panel 3 with the asset managers, but we will provide them guidance on the pricing structure to use in various rates.  They will then determine the hours, if you want to call it, that would be required to do a unit of work.


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  I hope not to ask these questions of panel 3, because I want to get an answer out here.


So you provide them with some instructions and such.  So for whatever, distribution transformers, this is -- this is the pricing assumption going forward, because I know we won't get into the details about buying spares and all that, but let's just say you buy your distribution transformer in 2016 or '18, that's the timing, so what is the pricing assumption?  Does that come from you folks, or is it left up to the manager responsible for that program for his pricing assumptions for the equipment that he is the technical expert for?


MR. SCOTT:  They would be working with the supply chain folks as to a pricing structure.


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  So I guess, stepping back -- and this is a 12,000-foot view of what is happening -- so the technical expert deals with supply chain, in terms of assumptions going forward for purchasing, let's say however number of distribution transformers, and he lands on a pricing scheme or assumption for the five-year business plan that we see reflected here.


MR. SCOTT:  Yes.


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  That's basically what I wanted to nail down.


So my question for Mr. Amodeo is on the other side of all of that.  Mr. or Ms. X in the distribution work program is going to be replacing a bunch of distribution transformers and has priced them at a certain level, and I'll say, you know, some reduction, because the program is increasing.


So when I see something like that, I assume if I am buying five of these rather than one of these a year I am going to work with my supplier or the supply chain to get a unit price reduction.  Right?  So that's what I'm going to have built in there.


So I assume the Hydro One work program for five years is appropriately costed, reflecting these sorts of economies of scale.


Now, my question to you, because it seems like you have the accountability of estimating all these cost efficiencies and productivity savings, so how do you pick that up?  Or -- so how does that get reflected in the numbers that we see in table 2 in the productivity exhibit?


MR. AMODEO:  Well, if you want to take that example, bulk purchasing, let's say.


MR. DUMKA:  Yes.


MR. AMODEO:  So we do meet with the representation of the supply chain group.


MR. DUMKA:  Right.


MR. AMODEO:  And they map out what their savings are for their bulk purchasing.  I believe they do it monthly.  We meet with them quarterly, and we will update our forecasts accordingly, but, of course, that could be spread out across many different work programs because --

MR. DUMKA:  Right.

MR. AMODEO:  Because they're doing the bulk purchasing, but that is where we would get our information.

MR. DUMKA:  So how far out, in a normal plan period, would you go forward with your forecast of annual productivity savings?

MR. AMODEO:  Well, in this case, for DX, we're going out five years because it is a five-year rate filing.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  So you come up with your estimates in parallel with the technical experts who are pulling together their pieces of the business plan and submitting it.

So where on table 2 -- and, alternatively, we can go to the energy probe 20 IR with the more detailed breakdown.  So where do we see those supply chain savings or whatever you want to call them, you know, in terms of these bulk purchases of distribution equipment?

MR. AMODEO:  Bulk purchasing was introduced in Cornerstone phase 1 and 2.  So it is a piece of that.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  So that would -- so that looks like --

MR. AMODEO:  Business systems.

MR. DUMKA:  I'm looking at Energy Probe 20, and that looks like it is, oh, ES.1.  So I see savings somewhere in the range of $30 million or so.

MR. AMODEO:  Hmm-hmm.

MR. DUMKA:  Right?  Okay.  And I am going to go through the interrogatory responses that I received, which was on bulk purchasing, and this is Exhibit I, tab 3.03, schedule 12, SEP 2.

And so my understanding of what we were told is, similar to what you've just told me now, that strategic sourcing is included in business systems category.

And in part (b), where we asked about -- if these savings don't change materially, why don't they going forward?  And the response is something to the effect that the best estimate for the future is that savings will be consistent with the previous year.

So if you go to page 2 of that IR response, I look at the 2013 actual with these bulk savings, and the number stays constant all the way through over that entire period.  That is 36.6 million.

Now, maybe I am being devil's advocate, but I stepped back, and Mr. Scott confirmed for me that the technical experts, when they pull together their business plan submissions, deal with supply chain and arrive at the most appropriate economic assumptions for costing.

So from my perspective, the business plan is costed appropriately.  What we see in this submission is costed -- in front of the OEB is costed appropriately, and it sounds to me like there's a mismatch in the savings that we're getting from bulk purchasing as is being stated here.

By definition, if we've got a bunch of technical experts dealing with supply chain coming up with assumptions, looking for economies of scale as they expand their programs, I would see some very -- expect to see some variation in these numbers.

I would assume that they would be going up, but I realize there is work program variations in terms of the number of units being done.

MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  I wonder if we could get to a question.

MR. DUMKA:  Well, my question is -- and I have confirmed from Mr. Amodeo how he estimates it, and I am giving him my observation that there seems to be an inconsistency with how this submission is being done and his estimate.

So based on what we have just discussed, would Mr. Amodeo agree that, perhaps, the numbers that he has pulled together may be out of sync with how this actual submission has been priced?

MR. AMODEO:  So you're referring to the chart in the interrogatory SEP 2.  Right?

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. AMODEO:  So going out, constant 36.6.

MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.

MR. AMODEO:  Now, I believe that's a combination of both TX and DX.  Okay?

MR. DUMKA:  That's fine, but the number is 36.6.  You know, I hear what you're saying, but I can't imagine the variations between T&D would always add up to 36.6 million.

And further to what I am putting forward in terms of not a problem with pricing of this work program but the estimation of productivity savings, I would ask you to turn up our Society interrogatory 6.  So if you would just flip on down.

One program, as I was going through, which struck me, which we asked about, is actually outlined in your ISD number S7.  There is no need to flip that up.

But where we're coming from is outlined right here.  This is distribution station refurbishments, so this is a case in point.

We have got the number of refurbishments over the period going from 36 to 41.  The work program costs, the CAPEX here goes from 34.6 million to 44.5 million.

So the innocent question was asked of Hydro One:  Your volume of work has gone up.  Your spend is going up in this work program.  Shouldn't there be a variation in the savings because the number of units that you are going out and buying is going up, and over the five-year term, one wouldn't expect the price to be the same, especially if you are buying more of those units?

MR. AMODEO:  And the example you are giving is just one example of some purchasing.

Now, these are the IMDS', just to be clear, what you're talking about here, which we're not buying too many of.  I mean, these are the -- this is the new initiative, IMDS, which is in the table.

I think the issue that we were dealing with as far as do we ramp up what those savings are going to be in bulk purchasing is the fact that it is not just straight purchasing.  I mean, you do have other conditions that could take into play.

For instance, you know, inflation, marketing conditions, the cost of these commodities, or whatever that they're buying.  Right?  I mean, there is some -- there is some risk there.  And, you know, you just can't say, Your volumes are going up; therefore, you know, we're going to buy more, so we should have more savings.


I totally understand that, but there is another piece of that, and that is:  What is the price you're going to be paying three, four years from now?

MR. DUMKA:  Well, I think we are getting into a circular discussion, because what I would venture to guess, if you are running your business efficiently, which I assume you are, if there is a variation in the price going forward, it's going to be reflected in the savings that you are going to get, because even if the overall price is going up, if you're buying ten more units than you were five years earlier, you're going to get a discount on that.  That is my proposition.

MR. AMODEO:  I understand that, yes.  In volume, pure volume, yes.  But I do want to point out that there are risks.

MR. DUMKA:  Sure, absolutely.  And that's underlying everything that is in this submission, not just a productivity, but overall.

MR. AMODEO:  Hmm-hmm yes.

MR. DUMKA:  You know, you have to make a forecast.  All I'm suggesting is, from my perspective, I would think that, perhaps, Hydro One hasn't costed some of these bulk savings appropriately.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Dumka, if I could just make sure I am understanding the answer.

So Mr. Amodeo, you're suggesting that the number is a constant because every year the offsetting risks of market changes is equivalent to the variation in the purchasing?

MR. AMODEO:  I'm not saying that exactly, that that's exactly what is going to happen.  I'm just --

MR. QUESNELLE:  I am just trying to understand how the number was derived.  Is it --

MR. AMODEO:  It was just an estimate based on what we -- what we saved in the prior year, and we felt that -- we know in some cases volume will be going up, and we know that apples and apples, volume going up, we should be saving money, but there is that other risk of what happens in the market.

MR. QUESNELLE:  So given that, you've decided to use, as a proxy for what may happen, a hindsight look at what happened in the most recent year that you have actuals?

MR. AMODEO:  Yes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Yes.

MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  That is all I was going to ask on that area.  You know, again, from my perspective, I think the savings may be understated going forward looking at volumes of work.  I hate to say it, Mr. Struthers, but my questions are now going to be with you.

And there is actually a couple of areas I am going to touch on hopefully quickly.  One is on the Leech study.  There is -- some discussion came up on that earlier this morning, and I am going to sort of segue into that from the KPMG report.

So as I understand it, the former CEO of the teachers' pension plan was asked by the provincial government to look at the electricity sector pension plans and such, and my understanding reading the report, it is similar to the KPMG reports, which you described as the government asking an outfit to look into an area and look at it outside the box with no restrictions, et cetera, like union contracts and whatever else.


And in fact, one of the things that came up somebody had mentioned was, with the KPMG report, they didn't have to take into account that there is no offshore outsourcing that the shareholder of Hydro One will allow.  So -- and you touched on that when you got into the Inergi discussions as well this morning.


So again, we've got the government, which has instructed, from what I understand, the companies in the industry that it is the shareholder, that there will be no offshore outsourcing.


So in the case of Inergi it could be doing IT work over the last five years offshore.  They were not allowed to do that.


So what my proposition is, is that we've got similar sorts of out-of-the-box, no restrictions views, which Mr. Leech has put in his report.  Would that be a fair assessment?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry.  I sort of lost you in the preamble.  If the question is, is the Jim Leech report hypothetical, or...


MR. DUMKA:  Well, no.  I guess the way I was describing it was similar to KPMG, where they -- one of the things they suggested was offshore outsourcing.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Right.


MR. DUMKA:  So my proposition to you, is there are similar sort of scenario here with the Leech report, which is, there are no restrictions, what would you do?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think the way Mr. Leech approached it was to look at the individual pension plans of each of the successor companies and to look at how those plans moved in the market, what they were sensitive to, what the pension contributions from employees were like, and he looked at his background with the Ontario Teachers' Pension Plan and made some assessments as to what he thought would be a direction that would address the issues that he had been asked to address, which was to look at the sustainability and affordability of the pension plans.  He used his knowledge to come back with recommendations.


MR. DUMKA:  Right, okay.  So I guess the broader question is, at this point in time has the provincial government provided Hydro One and OPG with direction on how to implement this report?


What I'm saying in black and white terms, has the government said to your CEO, Okay, implement what is in this report?  Has there been any such firm direction?


MR. STRUTHERS:  There are ongoing discussions as to how that report could be implemented.


MR. DUMKA:  So there are discussions.  Similar sort of way that I view the Drummond report of several years ago, which had all kinds of recommendations, and there was investigations as to what might be implemented, but at the end of the day my understanding is the government didn't say, Okay.  This is it.  Go with it.  Run with it.

MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, is there a question?


MR. DUMKA:  Yes, there is.  Basically the question is, it is similar to the Drummond report at this point in time, where you have not received firm direction from the Minister of Energy saying this is what you must do.  So what I am getting at is, there's uncertainty, and you are waiting in order to get that direction.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would characterize it somewhat differently.  If I was going to characterize it I would characterize it that the report is being reviewed, that the government is looking at how that report might be implemented.


In Drummond's case I think it was, he came back with suggestions.  I think this one is more around how one might actually implement it.


MR. DUMKA:  Okay, that's fine.  Just to put this into context as well, because, as was mentioned, I believe Mr. Leech chooses terms like "unsustainable" as far as the pensions go.


What is your understanding, recollection, of the returns of the Hydro One pension plan in 2013 and 2012?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I can't recall 2012's, but I believe 2013 was in the 13 percent return.  It was one of the top performing pension plans in Canada and it had very good returns.


MR. DUMKA:  Right.  And in 2012 I believe the number is roughly 9 percent.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That sounds familiar.  They sound about right, subject to check, but, yes.


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  The reason I am putting that forward is with regards to Mr. Leech's view of the sustainability of those sorts of returns, and it would seem that the pension plan has done reasonably well, in terms of the marketplace, and historically my vague recollection is that it has done better than the marketplace, so...


MR. STRUTHERS:  The plan has exceeded its target, yes, since its inception.


MR. DUMKA:  Okay, fine.  That's all I really had to put across on that.  Okay.


Now, I hate to say I'm going to get into some numbers here.  I'm not a numbers person.  But this is with regards to the compensation cost benchmarking study that Dr. Higgin mentioned this morning.


And really, what I want to get into -- and it is unfortunately going to be in a roundabout way, and it's going to touch on another area that Mr. Higgin got into -- if we can flip up Exhibit C1-3-2, attachment 2.  That's the compensation tables that you have in -- and the head count, et cetera.


If we can go to page 2.  This is sort of underlying where my question is going to come from.  Basically -- and I must admit, I am focusing largely on the Society component, but if we take a look at the numbers under 2012, there's about 5,400 total regular staff, and there is about 290 total temporary staff.


Now, perhaps you can explain to us, Mr. Struthers, what the differences in the compensation packet for a temporary employee versus a regular employee.


MR. STRUTHERS:  You're actually asking for a level of detail that I don't have.


MR. DUMKA:  Oh, okay.  Well, I will put forward the proposition that the difference is essentially with the temporary staff they do not get a pension benefit and the general benefits that they get, like health care or whatever else, are far smaller.  In fact, temporary staff have to pay some amount -- I'm not sure what it is, let's say a thousand dollars -- if they want health benefits coverage through the programs that Hydro One has in place.


So the overall pay packet for an FTE in the temporary category is lower than it is for the regular staff category.

MR. STRUTHERS:  I will take that subject to check.  I'm certainly aware of the pension item, but you have more details than I.


MR. DUMKA:  That's unfortunate.  Anyway, so that is -- in 2012 we can see that there is roughly 5,400 regular staff and 300 temporary staff.


If we flip to the last page of that attachment, page 5, and if we take a look, see the two numbers there, for regular staff they're roughly 5,000, and the temporary staff are roughly 900.


So if we take a look at the period between 2012 and 2019, it seems apparent to me -- and I believe is in the compensation exhibits, et cetera -- where the company looks to be going is using more temporary staff and hiring a lower amount of regular staff.


Would that be a fair assumption, based on the numbers that we see here, that is the intent?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Based on the charts that we provided to you, yes, that would be a fair assumption.


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.  So overall, the per-unit cost of total regular and total temporary, if we adjusted for 2 percent per annum contract increases, we will see a per-unit decrease over that time frame, because we've got a higher proportion of temporary, as opposed to regular staff.


MR. STRUTHERS:  The weighted average would result in a lower rate -- total overall rate, yes.


MR. DUMKA:  Okay, that is what I just wanted to establish, what the company's intention was.


Now, if we go to the compensation cost benchmarking study -- that is Exhibit C1-3-2, attachment 1.  And if we could just go to the summary table, table 1 on page 2 of the report.  And Prof. Higgin had some questions on the overall changes year over year, et cetera.


Now, my question to you is perhaps a bit complicated.  My question to you is:  When was the data for this particular study pulled from the Hydro One payroll system?  Because what I am curious of is how many temporary staff are included in that head count that we see in the first column.


There's 206 non-represented, 746 professionals, 2,100 power workers.


So my question is:  When was this -- the data pulled for this?  And how many temporary staff are there?  And further, the background question is:  This is only a portion of the total Hydro One regular -- or total Hydro One staff, which does include temporary, et cetera.  I just want to know what the profile was of temporary staff in the month that this data was pulled.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I will take an undertaking to see if I can find the answer.  I don't have it.


MS. LEA:  J3.8.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.8:  To provide the profile of temporary staff in the month the data was pulled.


MR. DUMKA:  The second part of my question is:  Were temporary staff included in the professional -- professional category and the power workers category?  And how does that -- this is the actual number of incumbent roles you have here and how many there were represented.


And what I am asking for at the end of the day is, if in the professional category, for example -- which is of the largest concern for me, so maybe that is what you should focus on -- is the number of temporary staff there, out of the 746 bodies, is that the same proportion that there was in the total professional staff in the month the data was pulled?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry.  Just so I can understand this, 746 comes from which table and which document?


MR. DUMKA:  This comes from your table 1 in the study.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Okay.


MR. DUMKA:  You have 746 professionals there.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Thank you.


MR. DUMKA:  So what I would like to know is how many of those were temporary professional, because they're paid lower.


MR. STRUTHERS:  And, again, I will have to take an undertaking to get you that information.


MR. DUMKA:  Yes.  You may want to include it in the one that you just got, because these are all part (a), (b), (c) as far as I am concerned.


MR. ROGERS:  We will do the undertaking, sir, but I would ask --


MS. LEA:  Aging assets, I can't hear you over here.


[Laughter]


MR. ROGERS:  I don't want to shout, but this level of detail is really problematic in the course of a hearing.  I would just ask people if they could -- if they didn't think to ask these questions in the interrogatory stage, if they could give us advance notice, we won't waste the Board's time.  We will try our best to dig this detail out.


MR. DUMKA:  Fair enough.


MS. LEA:  All right.  So that is included in J3.8, then.


MR. DUMKA:  That's correct.  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. DUMKA:  What I would like to know is:  Hydro One is going to provide the number of professional staff that were actually on the payroll system.  Let's say it was April 30th of 2013 when the data was pulled.  I would like to know how many temporary professional staff there were, and, if that proportion doesn't match what is in the study, if we could have a ballpark estimate if a similar proportion of temporary staff had been included in the study and what the overall impact would have been versus market median.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe I can certainly provide the first part of that answer.


MR. DUMKA:  Hmm-hmm.


MR. STRUTHERS:  The second part of that answer is -- would be Mercer's rerunning the study.


MR. DUMKA:  Well, I think you could do a back of the envelope ballpark of that.


MR. ROGERS:  My question is:  How is that going to help the Board?  I mean, we want to be cooperative here, but the undertaking has been given to get the basic data, but beyond that, I don't think I am prepared to agree to an undertaking unless the Board orders it.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Mr. Dumka, what's the -- what value will you be placing on it?  And when I say that, how will you be using it?


MR. DUMKA:  My intention is -- and this is further to the discussion that we got into this morning when Prof. Higgin was asking about the performance here.  My concern is that Hydro One is using more temporary staff, and I want to ensure that the data that was used in the benchmarking study reflects the profile of temporary staff, because I know, for example, with the PWU, one of the reasons -- the primary reason the Hydro One average over median has gone down is because the study reflects more hiring hall staff.


The equivalent in the Society would be temporary staff, because they don't get paid any sort of -- or get any pension benefit, and the healthcare benefits they get are far lower in terms of the dollar estimate.


MR. QUESNELLE:  And the -- and your argument there would be that is a reflection that the Board would be concerned of from the point of view of price or quality of power?  What is the --


MR. DUMKA:  No.  I think where my concern is, is that I think the 1.09 above market median may be overstated which is -- and contributes to where overall Hydro One sits, and this is to address the concerns that some of the other intervenors have stated with regards to the overall costs over market median.


MR. QUESNELLE:  So you don't believe that it is a transparent cost comparison in comparison to the market?


MR. DUMKA:  Well, I think there's a potential for the data that was included may not be as -- and I am not inferring it was intentional, but I question whether it was -- provided the appropriate picture at that point in time.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Understood.


MR. ROGERS:  Maybe Mr. Struthers could help.  I lost the thread here.  I'm sorry.  I think he agreed to do the first part of the question.  It is the follow-up judgmental part that I think we had trouble with.


MR. STRUTHERS:  What I am not sure about it is whether I can make a back of an envelope calculation or whether I need to go back to Mercers to get them to rerun the study on a different set of numbers.


MR. QUESNELLE:  If the Board receives something from a qualitative, you know, caveats around anything that you could provide us at this point, and then we will determine whether or not there is -- we have some time -- if that is done within the next few days, then, Mr. Dumka, you will have an opportunity to comment on it later.


MR. DUMKA:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  If the first part of it is to provide the data, then we can make an assessment.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  I think the question is whether or not it is representative.


If the -- what I am hearing is the question being, if the subset of the 746 is comparative from a ratio perspective as to what the report reflects at that date in time that you provided, then that is the end of it.


If it isn't, then what can you provide as far as information as to how directionally that might change the numbers?


And I don't know if more detail -- and perhaps I am not -- I am operating on my understanding of it, but, Mr. Dumka, is there something more to it?


MR. DUMKA:  No, that is it exactly.


MR. ROGERS:  I think I get the drift.  We will take the undertaking, sir.


We're not going to commission a study over again, of course, but we will try to give you some kind of qualitative response as best we can.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  Understood.  The Board would not want you to have to recontact Mercer on this until the Board understands how helpful your answer has been.


MR. ROGERS:  Let us look at the transcript, and we will do our best.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  J3.9.
UNDERTAKING NO. J3.9:  to advisE WHETHER THE TEMPORARY SUBSET OF THE 746 PROFESSIONAL WORKERS AT THE TIME GIVEN AFFECTS THE MERCER STUDY IN A RATIO PERSPECTIVE, AND IF SO IN WHAT DIRECTION


MR. DUMKA:  I believe that is all of the questions that I have.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you, Mr. Dumka.  Mr. Girvan?  Ms. Blanchard.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Good afternoon.  It's Emma Blanchard, for the record, for CME.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Ms. Blanchard, thank you.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Blanchard:


MS. BLANCHARD:  So, Panel, certainly it's late in the day.  It has been a long day.  I will try to avoid duplication.  I am going to go over some ground that my colleague Mr. Thompson covered with panel 1.


There were a fairly large number of questions that were referred to this panel, and so I will be going over some of those questions again, but I will try to keep my questions as focused as possible.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Blanchard, just for this afternoon break, if we were to break at around 3:20, and I would leave it to you to find a natural break, if that is possible.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Absolutely.  I will keep my eye on the clock.  Thanks.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So I am going to, just for the most part, be referring to two compendiums.  CME filed a compendium at the beginning of the second day of the hearing and it is -- its exhibit number is K2.1.


Most of the documents in that compendium are also already part of the record of this proceeding, but the compendium may speed things up a little bit.  So if you have that available, if you could get that out, I would appreciate it.


The other document we might refer to, although we only need one or two pages in it, will be the School Energy Coalition compendium, also for panel 1, but, really, there is only a few documents in there.  So if it is too difficult to track that one down, it is K1.1.  But I can provide references to the actual filed evidence if that's easier when we get there, but to the extent that you have those two document books available, I will try to stay within them.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I certainly have your compendium K1.2, so...


MS. BLANCHARD:  So, yes, so there is K2.1 and K1.1.  There is two -- yes?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am told this is the right document, so even though it may be numbered slightly differently I believe I am working with the same document.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So I am just going to start briefly with the memorandum of agreement, and that is at tab 1 of CME's compendium.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have that document, yes.


MS. BLANCHARD:  I am going to take you to the third page of that and look at the performance expectations, specifically under G2.


Firstly, would you agree with me that the obligations here and in section G relating to performance expectations apply to both the transmission and the distribution components of Hydro One?


MR. STRUTHERS:  They refer to the entire company, so, yes, it would be both transmission and distribution.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And if you look at the beginning of paragraph 2, there's going to be performance targets in three key areas.  So operating and financial results, as well as major project execution.


And would you agree with me that operating targets in the case of the distribution operation correlates to reliability?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It could do that, yes.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And financial results could correlate to value for money?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It could also correlate to work accomplished, financial information.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So -- okay.  Then these three types of targets are to be approved by the Minister of Energy and the Minister of Finance.  Is that accurate?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I would suggest that they are -- they're not approved from a formal document that comes back and says, Yes, I approve them.  There is a phraseology which I can't recall which is, in effect, they have looked at them.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And so they don't give you anything in writing when they look at them?


MR. STRUTHERS:  There are letters that are sent back which -- and primarily to do with the business plan -- my colleague is actually reminding me what they're called.  They are letters of concurrence.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And so has Hydro One developed targets in these three areas?  Operating, financial results, and major projects?


MR. STRUTHERS:  They're addressed through the corporation scorecard.  Many of the items are dealt with there.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So we have the scorecard.  It's been introduced a few times.  The easiest way I know to get to it is in the Schools compendium at page 44, but it is also in evidence, and you may have it.


So however the easiest way to get to that scorecard is -- I can tell you what the exhibit number is, if that is easier to bring it up.


We've got a 2014 scorecard.  I will just refer to that one.


So I think we have heard that this scorecard is intended to be responsive to this requirement for performance targets.  Is that accurate?


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is the document that we provide, which the Minister of Energy or Minister of Finance will send back a letter of concurrence saying that he has reviewed the business plan and, in effect, they become the documents that we have -- I guess have agreed to with those two organizations.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And is there a letter of concurrence specifically relating to this scorecard?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm going by memory, but I believe the latest letter of concurrence is -- relates to the year 2012.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So there's no approval for these two scorecards?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Put it this way.  We do meet with Ministry of Energy and Ministry of Finance officials, and we go through these scorecards and these results that we see here.


What's missing is the formal sign-back from the Ministers of Energy and the Minister of Finance.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And are you expecting to get a formal sign-back for this 2014 scorecard?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I anticipate that we will get a sign-back for the 2014 business plan, which this scorecard would be part of.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So there won't be anything specific on the targets in the scorecard.  It will just be -- you won't get a letter that says, 'We've reviewed your scorecard.  Please --


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is a very general letter that says, in effect, Thank you for your business plan.

MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So then I am just going to go back now to the MOA, and I am reading on in the same paragraph.  So the next paragraph is:

"Hydro One will benchmark its performance on these measures against the performance of other utilities, including international utilities, where information is available."


Would you agree with me that when you read this it appears that one of the purposes of these targets is to facilitate benchmarking?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would agree with you that where the information is available I think that was the expectation, that there would be benchmarking against it.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  And so going back to the scorecard -- I'm sort of going back and forth.  I apologize for that -- and looking at these targets, would you describe these targets as targets which lend themselves to benchmarking?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Certain of the targets might, if there is something to -- if there's an organization that does benchmarking, absolutely.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Could you give me an example?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe SAIDI, SAIFI, and CAIDI are all benchmarkable, because I believe that information is provided to the Ontario Energy Board.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Sorry, which ones?  I am looking at the scorecard, but --


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe it is on the page above or down.  Further down.  Sorry.  No, further up.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay, which ones would lend themselves to benchmarking?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If they are there, then effectively it would be -- sorry, I haven't got the document in front of me, so if I could --


MS. BLANCHARD:  I have some paper copies, if that would be --


MR. STRUTHERS:  That would be very helpful, thank you.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  I've got a couple printed here.  They seem to all be stapled together, but there is many copies there.  Late-night document preparation.  I apologize.  But I've got a few copies of those, and if my friend will just distribute them, maybe that will simplify things.


--- Mr. Rogers hands documents to witness panel.


MR. STRUTHERS:  So for example, customer interruption duration would be one of those items that would be benchmarkable.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And --


MR. STRUTHERS:  It is under the category of continuous improvement and cost-effectiveness in the building and maintaining of reliable transmission and distribution systems.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And would you describe that as an operating target?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would describe it as a target that the company strives to continuously improve to.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So have you benchmarked that target against any comparable utility company?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The Canadian Electrical Association used to do benchmarking back in 2011.  They haven't done benchmarking since that point in time.


So in effect, what we're doing is we're trying to cobble together what we think is arguably a target, but what we're looking for is continuous improvement year over year over year based on performance.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And so you haven't benchmarked that one against -- against another company?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Subject to check, I don't believe we have.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Not on an official basis, no.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  And then just looking at the two lines above, would you agree with me that those are the two targets, the only two targets, that relate to financial -- sort of value for money?  Those are your two costing targets?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, those are specifically related, arguably, to getting the work done, because, in effect, what you're looking at is your OM&A costs, i.e., the work program that you have identified.  Are you actually achieving that work program?  So there is more of a measure of work program achievement, as to a degree are the in-service capital transmission and distribution targets.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So which of these targets would be of most assistance in terms of setting a value for money target that could be benchmarked?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, the scorecard itself is a -- is a multi-tiered document in that it is trying to drive at many things.


So it's trying to ensure that we are doing what has been identified, which is continuous improvement, cost-effectiveness, maintaining commercial culture, delivering to customers.  So each of those components, if you take them as a whole, is, in effect, driving the corporation's strategy.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  It is driving your strategy, but it's not creating a basis for comparison with other companies.


MR. STRUTHERS:  The problem is -- is identifying a benchmarkable party against which to benchmark.  I believe that there are certain measures that are provided to the Ontario Energy Board.  We certainly provide those measures.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  And so then going on, then, in paragraph 2 the last line:

"Hydro One will target performance to be in the top quartile of private and publicly-owned utilities in North America."


I think we heard in evidence on Monday and Tuesday that, in terms of reliability, Hydro One is in the fourth quartile.  Would you agree with that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  I would suggest that these are aspirational.  Certainly that -- you wouldn't write a document where you basically wrote back and said:  We would like you to do worse.  We would always like you -- so this document is really, "We would always like you to strive forward," and that is really what this document is getting to:   "We would like you to improve performance."


MS. BLANCHARD:  How do you know you're in the fourth quartile in terms of reliability?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe that, with respect to the reliability statistics, which can be seen and are available, that is where we sit as a quartile performance.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And which statistics are those?  Just generally.


MR. STRUTHERS:  My colleague is suggesting that that  -- those reliability targets would have come from the CEA at one time.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So that would have been in 2011 when they were still benchmarking?


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I say, the targets themselves are  -- we would have been in Q4 in 2011.  What we're trying to do is continually trying to drive improvement in the company.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Understood.  And so we heard that you're in fourth quartile in terms of reliability and that that represents the right balance between cost to the consumer and performance.


Your colleague Ms. Frank was asked whether she could provide some sense of what quartile Hydro One might be, in terms of unit cost.  And I think she agreed that Hydro One would be nowhere near the top of the quartile.  Would you agree with that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm not going to disagree with Ms. Frank.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.


[Laughter]


MS. BLANCHARD:  But I think we have also heard that there is no intention to drive towards the top quartile in terms of cost.


MR. STRUTHERS:  In terms of the work program, we have a work program that we believe is required in terms of delivering reliability and effectively keeping us where we are currently.


Those costs are, in effect, the costs of doing that work and maintaining that reliability.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So there is this balancing that is happening.  At this point, there is a decision that has been made that that it is not in the public's interest maybe; that it's not in the company's interest to drive towards top quartile, either in terms of reliability or cost.  Is that accurate?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, I would say, if we were not constrained by what is a reasonable cost and a reasonable price and money was no object, then we would obviously strive to get to Q1.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And so just going back to this MOA, it sounds like the benchmarking that was contemplated is not being done.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Would you agree?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would suggest that the benchmarking data is not available.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And so -- but it's not being done because it is not available.  But it's not being done.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, I would agree with you that we don't formally benchmark because the information is not available.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And you're also not targeting top quartile on either the reliability measure or the cost measure.  Would you agree with me?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would agree with you the cost to get to those levels is prohibitive, and, therefore, it is not a target that we can achieve.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And so in these meetings with the Minister, are you -- is there discussion about amending the MOA?


MR. STRUTHERS:  There is an ongoing discussion about amending the MOA, yes.  But I believe, in fact, that the MOAs for most of the agencies are currently being reviewed.  We're one of those agencies.  So it is part of a governance process that the government is going through.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And is one of the discussions removing the benchmarking requirement all together?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not familiar with where those discussions are or where the draft MOAs are.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  And then -- so we have heard that the benchmarking data is just not available.  What's being proposed in the alternative is measuring Hydro's performance against itself.  Is that accurate?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think that is a reasonably accurate suggestion, yes.


MS. BLANCHARD:  One of the other alternatives that was suggested was participation in industry associations.


MR. STRUTHERS:  The Canadian Electric Association is an industry association.  It comprises most of the larger utilities.  It is no longer doing benchmarking.  If such a benchmarking structure existed, then we would certainly be interested in looking at participating in it.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And is -- I might have -- I may have this wrong, but did Hydro One not withdraw from the Canadian Electric Association?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We are still members of the Canadian Electric Association.  We withdrew from the Canadian Electrical Distributors' Association.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So in terms of how participating in associations could fill the breach that has been left by the lack of benchmarking data, how does Hydro One see that working?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, to the extent that we are aware of benchmarking data which would be helpful to us and which is on a consistent basis, so one of the issues with benchmarking data is how that information is collected and what it is actually supposed to be representing.


Then understanding how your numbers would fit against those numbers that are being provided in the benchmarking data.


So there are -- if you are involved in a benchmarking organization, you want to participate in it.  So if there are associations that had this, we would want to participate so that we can ensure the benchmarking data that we were collecting or that we were comparing ourselves to was consistent.


MS. BLANCHARD:  But there -- but I think I heard that there are no associations that actually do benchmarking.


MR. STRUTHERS:  There are -- there are no Canadian associations that do benchmarking, yes.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And so in our compendium, we did a little looking.  We found this association called the Electrical Council that says it does benchmarking.


Is that an association that Hydro One has considered participating in?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you look at who they are, they are effectively what we call "jobbers."  That is, in essence, they provide -- they are an association for suppliers to the electrical industry.  So by "suppliers," I mean people that sell you wire, bottles of water, whatever.  And I think, in fact, in this case I think the average size is $10 million in revenue.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So not comparable organizations.  On the American side it looks like there is a whole range of associations as well.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, I think you -- just the word "distribution" imply -- or "electrical distribution" implies that they're in the business of transmitting or distributing electricity.


I would say that that may be a phrase which is not necessarily accurate of the association.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So has Hydro One looked into this National Association of Electrical Distributors that --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, they are the same type of thing.  Sorry, I got them mixed up.  The National Association of Electrical Distributors in the United States is a jobber organization.  And it is -- as I say, it sells you -- it's basically a supplier of services or components or equipment to engineers and also to some extent to the electrical industry itself.


The Canadian Electrical Council or -- I think is the other one you were referring to?


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  The Electrical Council is Canadian.  Members of the Electrical Council includes ABB.  Again, they are providers of services, equipment.  They're manufacturers.  It is a manufacturing organization similar to the National Association of Electrical Distributors.  They're very similar types of organizations.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So essentially I think what I am hearing -- and you will correct me if I am wrong -- membership in industry associations is not going to fulfil the function of assisting Hydro One with collecting data about comparable industry.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would agree with you there.  But I am also going to point out that in the last two years I have had extensive reviews or certainly review an independent review by KPMG on my operations, and I am undergoing a review by the Premier's Council.


So if you are asking me am I being benchmarked, I think the answer is, I am being reviewed in detail.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So I am going to -- I think I am going to -- I'm going to carry on on that subject.


KPMG is a contractor that -- or, you know, a private service, a private consultant?  Would you -- it's a private consultant that is going to conduct a comparison of -- well, I guess that's not what this KPMG report did.


But if we look at Mercer, they're a private company, consultant, who are -- who you have contracted to conduct benchmarking for you.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  To the extent that we can obtain information from other -- others in the electrical industry, we can do comparative benchmarking data.


Mercer's does it on the basis that it is on a no-names and provides information back, so it is useful to all parties who participate.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And are there other consultants in the industry who could undertake additional benchmarking for Hydro One on, for example, a unit cost basis?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would assume that if you issued an RFP that you could find a provider that could do the work.  My question would be, what would they use as a comparative group?  Where would they go to to look for comparators?


MS. BLANCHARD:  And --


MR. STRUTHERS:  And then would those comparators respond to the survey?


MS. BLANCHARD:  And is that something that Hydro One has ever looked into?


MR. STRUTHERS:  When we were members of the CEA we would have been -- to the extent benchmarking was done at that point, we would have done benchmarking.


As I keep referring back, in the KPMG review, it was done independently of the company.  It was done on the company.  I think it was -- to the extent that KPMG had the information and knowledge to be able to provide input to the company on how it operated, then that information is available within the material.


MS. BLANCHARD:  But there's never been an RFP put out saying, you know, We want a benchmarking study that looks at unit costs on comparable utility providers.  You know, tell us what you can do for us.

MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not aware of one, but I would have to confirm whether we did or didn't have -- have or have not asked for an RFP.  I am not aware that we have.


MS. BLANCHARD:  I think this might be a good moment to break for the afternoon break.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, Ms. Blanchard.


Just before we go, I just want to kind of get a feel for who else may be wanting to cross-examine this panel.


Ms. Grice, Ms. Lea had put out a request for kind of time estimates.  Do you have any -- and I note that you hadn't responded or you don't have any time, but I am just going to canvass you now, if you have anything for this panel?


MS. GRICE:  Mark Rubenstein from SEC has offered to deliver AMPCO's questions.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, great, thank you very much.


Any other panels that -- are your time estimates inclusive of -- for all panels, Mr. Rubenstein, or just this one?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  At least this one and the next panel.  I am not actually sure about panel 4.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, all right.  Thanks, that's good.


And Ms. Girvan, you had some time allotted as well?


MS. GIRVAN:  I do.  I do -- did find out earlier from Ms. Frank that some of my questions should be panel 3, but I do have probably about 15 minutes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay, great.  Okay.  Let's break until 20 to 4:00 then.  Okay, thank you.

--- Recess taken at 3:17 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:50 p.m.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you, please be seated.  Apologies for keeping you waiting there.


Okay.  Ms. Blanchard.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.  I am now going to ask you a few questions about the three KPMG reports, and I know we have had them out a few times today, but if you could just bring them out.  I am only going to be dealing with the first two reports.  And I am going to start with the December 7th, 2012 report at page 4.


So we're looking at the executive summary.  And so on this page, KPMG, first of all, summarizes its mandate, and this is the mandate that the Ministry of Energy has assigned to them.


And the mandate is -- includes analyzing existing benchmarks on compensation, productivity, and efficiency.


So would you agree with me that the fact that the Minister issued a RFP on that basis suggests that it was assumed that Hydro One was benchmarking compensation, productivity, and efficiency in 2012?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not sure exactly what their assumptions were.  I believe, having spoken to KPMG at the time, that the way the project had been described to them was that there would be material available for them to review.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And so was the KPMG study one of the things that was discussed in these meetings with the Minister between Hydro One and the Minister of Finance and the Minister of Energy during these periodic meetings that you were having about your performance targets?


MR. STRUTHERS:  This particular report?  No.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So then KPMG goes on to say that, based on these benchmarking -- these benchmarks, they were going to identify organizational and structural opportunities for efficiency.


And then they say, Hydro One, you delivered them 18 reports for them to look at.  Is that accurate?  Would you agree with that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  I believe it refers to it in the third paragraph or the second paragraph of the 18 reports provided.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.  Okay.  And of those 18 reports, only one was useful, and that was the Mercer report.  Is that right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  My understanding of that was correct, and it was because of the timeliness of the report as compared to their review date.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So was Hydro One advised that, you know, you had delivered these 18 reports, and only one of them was helpful in terms of meeting the objective that had been assigned to the consultant?


MR. STRUTHERS:  We were subsequently advised after we provided the material to them that, in KPMG's view, that, while the material was helpful in giving them background, it wasn't helpful in allowing them to do, effectively, what they had been asked to do.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So at that point when that was communicated to Hydro One, was there any discussion that Hydro One should do more benchmarking?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, not that I'm aware of.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So KPMG say they have this data shortage.  So they come up with this alternative methodology, and was that methodology described to Hydro One before they started their process?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm going by recall.  I don't believe it was.  As I -- I am going again by recall.  As I recall, they went back, I believe, to the Minister of Energy and indicated that they needed to do their own work because we didn't have documents that would allow them to do the high-level review that they had intended, and, therefore, they needed to do a more in-depth review.  And, again, their issue wasn't so much that we didn't have the documents.


It was that the documents were stale-dated against their review period.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  And I think we've got -- we've got -- yes, we have a list of them.  So their review period was -- it had to be at least five years current.  So anything that was more than five years old was not going to be part of the study.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, I think actually they were looking for anything that would have been done in the previous 12 months.  I appreciate that their scope may have been larger, but they were really looking for current to their review.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Well, on page 4, it says:

"Some reports were more than five years old and therefore outside of the review time frame."


So I am assuming that that's why they disqualified --


MR. STRUTHERS:  There would have been a reason that they indicated why they disqualified, but as I say, even if it had been done within the five-year period, they were looking for, effectively, what was a current document or current benchmarking that we might have done so that they could rely on that document.


And then -- then what they did is they, then, looked at the nature of the document to determine whether there was useful information in that document.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.  And so the only document that was really useful to KPMG was the Mercer report.  Is that correct?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I had thought that they had also looked at the Hay Group report as well.


MS. BLANCHARD:  From 2010?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Subject to check, I will accept that.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And the Hay report also dealt with compensation?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  And I suspect it actually may have been more current, because it talks about in 2011, but...


MS. BLANCHARD:  So none of the reports that they had dealt with unit costs or anything of that nature?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I would have to go through sort of what it is that they had to tell you whether that was the case or not.  I think --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Well, that they relied on.


MR. STRUTHERS:  -- they did have lines of vegetation management reports, so they did have some material with respect to unit costs.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  I will get to the vegetation reports in a moment.


So I am just going to now go to the next report, called "Assessment of Organizational and Structural Opportunities."  And I understand that this report is the product of this alternative methodology that KPMG proposed.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That is correct.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So one of the things I would like to ask you about is Hydro One's engagement in this process of assessing organizational and structural opportunities.  So I understand, from reading the report, that what KPMG did was they looked at the industry, and they came up with some best practices, hypotheses, and then they put those hypotheses to Hydro One.  Is that accurate?


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  They came to us with a series of hypotheses and then delved into whether those hypotheses were valid hypotheses and whether they -- the hypothesis that they had allowed for additional value or additional savings or what the outcome might be.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So I would just like to get a little bit of a flavour of how the hypotheses were developed, and so I am going to take you to page 24 of the report.


So one of the unit costs type issues that you have identified as the vegetation management unit costs -- I am looking here at row number 3.  And so in this row, KPMG identifies a 2012 benchmarking report which showed that Hydro One has the highest vegetation costs of any of the participating companies.


Can you tell us what report that is?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe in the document they refer to it.  It's not our report, as far as I understand.  It is a report they had access to.


MS. BLANCHARD:  But it's one that Hydro One participated in.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Because they have our costs in it, I am assuming that is the case, because they've indicated that Hydro One has the highest vegetation costs of any of the participating companies.  I am assuming that relates to that report.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And so, if Hydro One participated in the report, presumably they would have access to the report?


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I say, I am not aware of the report.  I thought we had filed all of the current reports, but...


MS. BLANCHARD:  Could you undertake to inquire as to where that report might be?


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I say, I believe we filed the CN Utility Consulting report.  I think this one refers to 2012.  I believe we filed the 2009 report as material.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.  That is accurate.  I have seen it, and it is referred to in a response to the Board Staff Interrogatory No. --


MR. STRUTHERS:  We can certainly check to find out whether we did receive CNUC 2012 report.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And will you also produce the report?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If we have it and can find it I'd be happy --


MR. ROGERS:  Let me take it under advisement.  These are --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Well, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  It is not confidential, and surely -- in fact, I suspect it has been filed before with the Board, but some of these benchmarking studies I know people are very sensitive about releasing the information, and that's one of the problems with them, but can I take it under advisement and see what is available, sir?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  Can we have a number, Ms. Lea?


MS. LEA:  Yes.  3.10.

UNDERTAKING NO. 3.10:  TO DISCOVER WHETHER THE CNUC 2012 REPORT WAS RECEIVED AND TO PRODUCE IT IF FOUND.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.


So I was asking you about how these hypotheses are developed.  And it appears that what KPMG did was it conducted interviews at Hydro, and then it identified some trends that gave rise to questions about whether there could be an improvement.


So at page 25 there's -- at line 6, Hydro One provided data that showed an increase in FTEs between 2006 and 2011.So you went up 252 FTEs during that period.


And so that data was provided by Hydro One.  Did Hydro One participate in identifying which data sets would be delivered to Hydro One?  Sorry, to KPMG?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, I am going by memory.  I believe they asked for specific information and we provided it.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So they have identified this trend.  We're seeing an increase in FTEs between 2006 to 2011.  And do we know how this trend relates to other utility companies like BC Hydro or some of the other more comparable companies?


MR. STRUTHERS:  This is specific to the EPC, so what we refer to as engineering project delivery.  It is primarily related to transmission.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't know how it relates to what BC Hydro would have been doing in the transmission business at that point in time.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  And what about, if I go up to line 6 then, there is also a trend of an increase in FTEs between 2006 and 2007.


So we're seeing an upwards trend in FTEs.  Is that trend being looked at relative to comparable utilities?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, this would be with respect to work programs that we had, how those work programs would compare to a work program that BC Hydro or New Brunswick Power or Manitoba Hydro had.  I don't know.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  So in this case it relates to maintenance, lines maintenance.  I don't know what type of lines maintenance programs BC Hydro would have been doing at that time.  I know what type of -- or I understand generally what type of lines maintenance programs Hydro One would have been doing.


MS. BLANCHARD:  When we look at these trends, it suggests that, you know, had there been a staffing levels benchmarking study, that's where KPMG's starting point would have been.  Would you agree with me?


MR. STRUTHERS:  The easiest thing to do when you do a benchmark study is to look at the number of people.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And so why wasn't a staffing levels study undertaken by Hydro One?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't believe that Hydro One felt the need.  Hydro One was more interested in understanding the work it had to do in that time period and whether it was adequately staffed to do it.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So KPMG identifies these trends.  And then I am interested in how KPMG reaches its conclusions relative to these trends.


So I want to look at one example where, in the end, KPMG decides that there is no opportunity.  So I am going to take you to page -- I am going to take you to page -- let's see, one -- I will take you to page 38.


So there's this hypothesis.  Hydro One can reduce operating costs by improving lines maintenance worker productivity.  So there is a trend.  There is an increase in FTEs.


Is there an opportunity for efficiencies here?  And so we get this page, page 38.  And right at the bottom there's a line that says:

"This hypothesis has been addressed by Hydro One, and there appears to be no incremental opportunity."


So I am interested in that statement.  Is that a statement that was developed collectively between KPMG and Hydro One working together with that hypothesis?


MR. STRUTHERS:  So again -- again, this is all recall back to that period.  We would have sat down with KPMG, and they would have come to us and said, This is our hypothesis.  Are you looking at tools to drive efficiencies?  Are you looking at this type of thing are you looking at that type of thing.  How do you do this, how do you do that,  And we would have explained the tools that we were using.  We would have explained how we do things.


It would then be their assessment as to whether we had addressed that hypothesis or not.  That would be their opinion.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Based on the feedback that Hydro One provided.


MR. STRUTHERS:  It would be based on their expert knowledge.  They would look at what we did, and they would assess against their expert knowledge whether they believed that we had done what was appropriate or not.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And in your view, is that an appropriate substitute for benchmarking?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I look at this as a helpful document from the perspective that it was done independent of Hydro One.  It's not a benchmarking report that Hydro One commissioned.  So there is an independence to the report.


KPMG was retained by the Minister of Energy separate from Hydro One.  They are the experts, at least as we understood they're the experts.  And they were the ones that reviewed what we were doing.  They had the industry experts.  They came back and told us whether we were performing or not performing.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.  And so at the end of the day, KPMG identifies a certain number of opportunities, and those are all summarized in the executive summary at page 7 and following.


Are you able to confirm whether Hydro One is pursuing all of the opportunities, the incremental opportunities, that KPMG identified?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Let me see if I can find the page.


MS. BLANCHARD:  There is three in operations at page 7.  And the balance are in -- on page 9, in information technology.  You can let me know if this is a panel 3 question.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry, I am just trying to find the right page.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So I am at page 7 of the assessment of Organizational and Structural Opportunities report.  It is an executive summary.  And it is on the screen.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Ah, okay.  I have it, okay.  So the first one was, can Hydro One reduce capital costs managed by engineering project delivery through increased use of EPC suppliers.  They identified that as an incremental opportunity.  They also identified that there would be challenges associated with the collective agreements.  To the extent that we can manage within the collective agreements, then we're looking at those opportunities.


It indicates -- I think the second one is, Hydro One can reduce operating costs by improving station maintenance worker productivity.  We continue to drive productivity improvements within our station maintenance group.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And I think KPMG offers a framework for pursuing these various initiatives.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Some of their initiatives were helpful.  With respect to, Hydro One can reduce forestry costs by outsourcing the vegetation management activities, again, that is an issue with respect to the collective agreements.


So the KPMG study was done with no restrictions, no -- it did not look at the restrictions that the company was under at the time the study was done.  It was done, if you could, with a blank piece of paper, do the following things.  Here are the things we would suggest you do.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.  Okay.  Well, I think that's helpful.  So I think I am going to move off KPMG now and just ask you some questions about the Mercer study.


We have a copy of that, but before I get there, you've got my compendium, CME's compendium.  And at tab 2, I have a copy of the case which is -- this is actually the appeal of the Board's decision in the 2011-2012 transmission case.


And, you know, I understand the distinction between transmission and distribution, but if you will just bear with me.  I -- well, I guess I am going to start by saying I am going into the area of compensation.  And would you agree with me that the compensation numbers are collective for both transmission and distribution?  They're not -- they're not --


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct.  The workforce is a collective workforce that does both transmission and distribution work.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And the Mercer study that we have before the Board in this proceeding is also a part of the transmission application.  It is one benchmarking study for the organization in terms of compensation.


MR. STRUTHERS:  As I understand how the study was done, that's correct.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So I'm going to take you now to page 6, and this is page 6 of the Divisional Court decision on the Power Workers' Union appeal.  It actually reproduces a portion of the Board's decision and so --


MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry.  Is this the Divisional Court decision or the Court of Appeal decision?


MS. BLANCHARD:  This is the Divisional Court decision, yes.  Page 6.  So in this part of the decision, the Divisional Court identifies what it's calling -- what it calls the directory aspects of the compensation-related portion of the decision.


And it refers us to this portion of the Board's decision on the 2011-2012 transmission rates case.

I am just going to give you the opening lines here, but:
"The Board directed Hydro One to revisit its compensation cost benchmarking study..."

So you are going to revisit it.

"...in an effort to more appropriately compare compensation costs to those of other regulated transmission and/or distribution utilities in North America.  It's important that the company be in a position to provide more robust evidence on initiatives to achieve a level of costs per employee closer to market value at its next transmission rate case."


So that was the direction from the Board.  Will you agree with me that the company didn't challenge the decision itself?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't believe the company was actually involved in the proceedings.


MS. BLANCHARD:  It didn't appeal the Board decision.


MR. ROGERS:  I think I was there, and I think the answer is that is correct.  I don't think Hydro One did appeal the Board's decision, although it was a party to the Divisional Court case.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.


MR. ROGERS:  It decided to live with it rather than rehear the case.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.  So the direction was go back and revisit your compensation cost benchmarking study to create something that is going to more appropriately compare compensation costs.


So did Hydro One do that?  Did Hydro One revisit its compensation benchmarking study?


MR. ROGERS:  I can maybe help there.  I believe they did, Mr. Chairman.  I think in subsequent cases, there was an updated study.  I think twice maybe, as a matter of fact.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Are -- Am I --


MR. STRUTHERS:  Sorry.  This -- I think this references to the 2008 Mercer --


MR. ROGERS:  Right.  The first one which was not -- the Board said was not very helpful, not very responsive.  And then in the next case, I believe, another effort was made, which was a much better fit, if I recall correctly


MS. BLANCHARD:  Thank you.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.


So there was a -- there's now a 2011 and a 2013 Mercer study, and are these the -- these are the revisited, new and improved compensation benchmarking studies that were referring to.  Is that accurate?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe that is an accurate description, yes.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So with that in mind, so these are the -- this is the improved compensation cost benchmarking study.  I just want to ask a few questions about the Mercer report.


So it is in our compendium at tab 6.  If there is an easier way to get there, by all means.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I have the study in front of me, yes.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So I guess a few questions:  Firstly, the study reflects approximately 3,050 Hydro One employees.  So that's 57 percent of Hydro One's employee population.  Is that right?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe that's what the study says, yes.  It indicates that it's a representative sample.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And so are you aware of why the other 43 percent were not capable of being benchmarked?


MR. STRUTHERS:  No, I'm not.  I think that -- I can't talk for Mercer's as to why they would not have increased the scope, but that would have been their decision.


I would expect, had they felt that the scope was inadequate, then they would have come back to the company.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So did they provide any kind of background methodology as to why this specific 57 percent was selected and not the other 43?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe what they were trying to do is they were trying to look at comparable employees from year over year over year.  So they would be looking at comparable jobs.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So I think we have heard that, when you used to participate in the association which did conduct some benchmarking comparing Hydro One to BC Hydro and New Brunswick and I think Manitoba Hydro, there was some benchmarking done there.


And is it -- when that benchmarking was done, was it ever done on the basis of compensation?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm not aware of it, but I don't have that depth of knowledge for the work that was done for benchmarking prior to 2011.  I know that the company -- I believe, if that had been available, I suspect they wouldn't have gone down a Mercer's route.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So I believe -- those companies participated in the Mercer study.  Right?  All three of them?


MR. STRUTHERS:  BC Hydro, certainly.  Manitoba Hydro and New Brunswick Power, yes.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So if there had been a smaller sample size, you might have been able to benchmark a larger number.  Will you agree with me?  Because they would have been more similar companies.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am not sure I follow the logic so...


MS. BLANCHARD:  So, I mean, I think -- I will put a proposition to you, which is that, when you do benchmarking, you have to try to find similar groups.  But if you find companies that are very similar, there are going to be fewer groups that have to be excluded.  Would you agree with me on that?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  But the issue that you run into is comparability.  If you go with a smaller group, the issue you run into is comparability.


So, for example -- and I am assuming you're suggesting BC Hydro as an example.  The question is:  Are the economic factors in BC or New Brunswick or Manitoba the same as the economic factors in Ontario?  Right?


Because wages are very much driven by the economic factors and by comparability of wages within those provinces.  So is your question:  Is BC, Manitoba, and New Brunswick an appropriate comparable to Ontario?  I would suggest you probably would want to look at Ontario companies.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Well, I guess what I'm getting at is my understanding of the methodology that is presented in this report is that the comparison groups were developed in terms of business functions.


And so the reason 43 percent of your permanent staff were excluded from the study is because those business functions were not similar to business functions that appeared in the other 13 comparable companies.  Do you agree with that characterization?

MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm not sure I can agree or disagree with you.  I think what they were trying to do was to ensure comparability between periods, so they were trying to use the same classifications or same type of job descriptions.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So -- and so this is between -- so this is between 2009, 2011, 2013.  They're looking at --


MR. STRUTHERS:  I think they were trying to sort of be able to benchmark across not only companies but also across sort of how -- ways structures would have changed over time for similar jobs.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So they're trying -- so they're looking at essentially the same functions over that, those three different reports?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I believe that was what they were attempting to do, to the best of their ability, yes.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Do you know how many comparable companies they had in 2011?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't have the study in front of me.  I would assume it is somewhat similar.  I think they tried to use the same companies.  I think they may have lost two in the interim.  I think they indicated that.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.  I think at page 6 it says that there were 13 organizations in the 2011 study and there are 13 organizations in the 2013 study.  And based on what I am hearing, I am assuming that there was 13 organizations in the 2009 study.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Subject to checking it, I am assuming that is correct.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So I guess one of the things that I'm finding puzzling is, how is this report significantly different than the 2009 report?


MR. STRUTHERS:  I'm not familiar enough with the documentation or the reports for 2009, '11, and '13 to be able to describe to you what the difference between those documents is.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Well, I guess let me put it another way.  The company was directed to revisit, rethink the compensation benchmarking report.


And I am going to put it to you that this is essentially the same report again, unless you can tell me that there are substantial differences.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I've sort of lost the question, but I'll interrupt, though, if I could, Mr. Chairman.  I am trying to remember the history here, but the first study was not considered to be -- had limitations, and the Board so stated.  Since then they have done two updates, which were stakeholdered, with all of the stakeholders.  Most of the people in this room were part of the process of defining the terms of reference of the company.


They then -- Mercer's then filed these two updated studies before this Board, I do believe, in the two previous rate cases, and the Board, I won't say accepted in full, but the Board commented upon those studies.  And it is all part of the public record.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, I think what Ms. Blanchard is looking for, Ms. Blanchard -- and please let me know if I am misinterpreting your line of questioning here -- but you are looking for, now that you have the last study that you referred to, 2013, what are the material differences between it and the 2009 report?


MS. BLANCHARD:  That's right.  And I am looking for, you know, how has the company responded to that direction.  They were told in 2000 and -- in the 2011 and '12 application, this is not going to cut it, and I want to understand how they have responded to that.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, that characterization aside, I think what the Board would find useful is if there are things that the company can point to that differentiate the 2009 report from the 2013 report.


MR. ROGERS:  We will take that undertaking, sir.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  That will be J3.11.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.11:  TO PROVIDE THINGS THE COMPANY CAN POINT TO THAT DIFFERENTIATE THE 2009 REPORT FROM THE 2013 REPORT.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  So...  Let's see here.  So I think there was some questioning on this earlier today, so I am not going to spend a lot of time on it, but my colleagues for the unions were asking you about the findings of the Mercer report as they related to the non-represented group and the professionals group, and will you agree with me that both of those groups appear to have -- to actually be benchmarking a little bit worse in 2013 relative to 2011?


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you look at the survey results for 2011 and 2013 you will see that as it appears -- as they approached median, then the performance in the benchmarked group has declined -- hasn't improved.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And it's actually for the non -- so for management, non-represented, it has actually gotten about 16 percent worse relative to the median.


MR. STRUTHERS:  It has approached the median, yes.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And for professionals, I think it is 4 percent.


MR. STRUTHERS:  It's gone from 5 to 9 percent, yes.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So on Tuesday, Ms. Lea was asking you about whether or not the company could calculate what the impact on the revenue requirement would be if -- if you were actually at the median in these three categories in 2019.


Do you recall that question?  It was a long time ago, maybe.


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you could be explicit, that would be helpful.


MS. BLANCHARD:  I can take you to the actual question in the transcript, if that is of assistance.


So I am at page 143 through 145 of volume 2, which was the transcript from last Tuesday.  And Ms. Lea was asking you about overall compensation in 2014, overall compensation in 2019.  And so at the bottom of page 144, line 20 -- well, actually, right at the bottom, line 27:

"Do you have a sense of how much the overall compensation number for 2019, which is 859 million, would have to be reduced to achieve the market median in that year?"


So I think --


MR. STRUTHERS:  And I think I answered that it is a benchmark, and so I have no idea of where the -- where the rest of the population that it is being benchmarked against would have got to in 2019.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Because it's five years out.


MR. STRUTHERS:  That's correct, and I have no idea what type of wage agreements will be reached with the various parties in the benchmark community as to whether they will be more than ours or less than ours or where we will be, or even what that looks like.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Fair enough.  Could you do that calculation for 2014?


MR. STRUTHERS:  So --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Tell us what the difference is between the compensation level in 2014 and what the median compensation level is for those three groups:  Non-represented, professionals, and --


MR. STRUTHERS:  I don't know what is involved in it, and I don't know whether we have the data.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Could I have an undertaking that you will look?


MR. STRUTHERS:  Yes.  Could you be very specific what you are after?


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  The question is, could you calculate the amount of compensation that would be payable, the total amount of compensation that would be payable, if Hydro One was at the median in 2014?


MR. SCOTT:  I am not sure how complex that question is.

MR. ROGERS:  We will undertake -- if it is satisfactory, sir, we will undertake to look at it, and if it can be done with reasonable effort we will do it.  If not, I will advise the Board why.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.


MS. LEA:  J3.12.

UNDERTAKING NO. J3.12:  TO CALCULATE THE TOTAL AMOUNT OF COMPENSATION THAT WOULD BE PAYABLE IF HYDRO ONE WAS AT THE MEDIAN IN 2014.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  And as an added request, I am interested in whether you could do it for 2015 or 2016 and at what point it becomes impossible to do it.  You have told us that at 2019 it is way too uncertain.


MR. STRUTHERS:  If you -- I am not even sure that I could do it for 2015 or 2016.  I would have to understand how the benchmark moves.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  And so I guess if we don't -- we're not going to know how the benchmark is going to move, presumably.  We won't know.  But for the purpose of the calculation, I guess one alternative would be to hold the benchmark constant and then just do the calculation over the years.


MR. STRUTHERS:  So I think what you're saying is assume that the 2013 survey results continue into 2015.  Is that --


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.


MR. STRUTHERS:  Again, I am not sure of the complexity involved in it so...


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.


MR. QUESNELLE:  I am trying to understand, myself.  If you hold the one constant, isn't the only variable then what is the possible increase of Hydro One's increase?


MS. BLANCHARD:  Well, I guess we just don't have any other information.  So, you know, and we're talking about a five-year period, and so there's been a lot of talk about how do we deal with the growing uncertainty over the years.


And I guess what I'm suggesting is there has to be some way of identifying the actual -- well, of monetizing the difference between the benchmark and where Hydro One actually is.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Well, one observation I have made in just looking at the recent history on it, and the question I had -- and I am not sure how valuable it will be.  I have been mulling it over myself -- is that, when you have any kind of variation of a distance from the median, without knowing what the other moving part is, it is not all that, you know, informative.


When we -- there have been comments made through cross-examination this afternoon about the relative movements away from median, but we're just seeing -- we're not seeing where the median is.  We're not seeing whether or not Hydro One got there first, and others are catching up, or whether or not Hydro One is lagging, because you're not seeing both sides of it.


So I think probably on a historic basis, there is some things to be gained, but I am wondering if we don't already have on the record enough to recognize that Hydro One has spoken about what it has built into its assumptions on its compensation increases to 2019, and if everything else is  -- if what you're asking for is them to crystal ball where the market is going to go over that same period, they have suggested they can't do that.


So by asking to make an assumption that it is fixed, I think we already have that, don't we?  And that what they would be doing is just saying, Okay, well, we have told you that our assumption is a 2 percent buildup per year over the next five.


So I think that we have that.  If I'm -- if there is anything else that I am missing, please let me know, but I think that we have already got that much on the record, so I wouldn't want them to be chasing something that is already here.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Fair enough.  I mean, I don't -- I don't -- I don't know that we understand -- if we just did it for the 2013, even, or 2014, I think that would be a starting point that we could all work with, and it would  be --


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  See what --best efforts on that, and we will leave it at that.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  I think I am going to leave the Mercer report now.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Do you have a time estimate, Ms. Blanchard?


MS. BLANCHARD:  I actually really only have two more questions.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So, yes, maybe about ten minutes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Certainly.  Let's finish up the day with your questions, then.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So my last question -- my last questions relate to the special advisers' report on sustainability of electricity section -- sector pension plans, and I know we have had a lot of questions on that as well, so I will try to keep this very brief.


And so I think I will take you -- I will take you to page 20 of the report.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Ms. Blanchard, can I interrupt you for a second?  I may have misspoke there.  Ms. Girvan, you had mentioned earlier that you had about 10 or 15 minutes?


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  Probably about 15.  I was going to say, given the late hour of the day, if I could take tonight to sort of organize myself, and I might be even less than that, and what I could probably do, as well, is put a compendium of the exhibits together that I am going to refer to so it would be more efficient.  Would that be okay?


MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.  All right.  That would be fine.  We will finish up with Ms. Blanchard.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. BLANCHARD:  So here on page 20 we see the Special Adviser basically reaching the conclusion that none of the pension plans that he looks at are sustainable, and I understand that is in dispute.


But my question is:  I am looking here at the second paragraph where he gives his reasons for why they're not sustainable.


And so one question I have for you is:  He says:  They're not sustainable in part because they don't incorporate new actuarial mortality assumptions, so people are living longer.


And my question is:  Have these now been incorporated, or is that still an outstanding issue?


MR. STRUTHERS:  So in the valuation report we filed for December 31st, 2013, which we filed with the -- I'm going to get the name of the institution incorrect, which is -- I believe it is the -- well, certainly the Pension Institution.  OSFI, I believe it is called.


That has been built into those calculations, so we are looking at the new mortality tables.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And so based on your evidence earlier today that Hydro One doesn't see an issue with the pension plans -- I am paraphrasing, so disagree with me.


MR. STRUTHERS:  I am going to disagree with you.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Yes.

MR. STRUTHERS:  I think that the issue with the pension plans always is related to economics.  If you had another downturn such as you had in 2008, then all defined pension plans would have the same issue.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Right.  And so is Hydro One developing a strategy for addressing that issue?


MR. STRUTHERS:  So as we develop -- we're in a position now where we have had good returns on our pension plan for the last two, three years.  We are looking at a strategy which would, in effect, derisk the pension plan, so, like, making it less volatile to economic changes.


The way to do that is to move away from equity assets, so return assets into fixed income assets.  So that shift will gradually occur.


We just have to ensure that we can do that within the framework of funding the plan.


MS. BLANCHARD:  And so has any thought been given to implementing any of the recommendations in this report?  I think you were asked earlier whether the Minister had ordered you to implement them, and your answer was no, but...


MR. STRUTHERS:  This is a -- this is a guideline.  This document was intended to be a guideline or framework that could then be implemented.


That implementation is going to require the Ontario government, the employees -- sorry, the employer and the unions to work together to be able to implement it.  So it is an ongoing process.


MS. BLANCHARD:  Okay.  Those are my questions, actually.  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you very much, Ms. Blanchard.


Did you have something, Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, very briefly before you break, sir.  I have some undertakings I would like to file


MR. QUESNELLE:  Yes.  Okay.  And we also -- Ms. Lea would like to discuss some scheduling issues as well.


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Can I tell you what these undertakings are?  And you will be glad they're not stapled together.  The first is J2.6, J2.9, J2.10, and the last is J2.12, and my friend Ms. Lea will be glad to know this deals with the smart meter distribution rider with an explanation for the difference between the models.


MS. LEA:  Excellent.  Thank you so much.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Thank you.  Ms. Lea.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Chairman.  I just wanted to bring everybody up to speed on where I think we are.


So I believe, looking at what I understand to be the situation now, we probably have about an hour and a half of additional cross-examination tomorrow morning for this panel, including any few questions Board Staff may have with respect to smart meters, and we won't know that until we have spoken to Mr. Ritchie tomorrow morning, so...but that does not include questions from the Board.


So I would hope that, if we're beginning at nine tomorrow, this panel can be completed around and about the time of the morning break.


And then, as I understand it, Hydro One has a presentation, some examination-in-chief to present as panel 3 takes the stand, and my understanding is that is about -- it is going to last about an hour.


And so we may be able to begin some cross-examination of panel 3 before lunch.  I guess we will have to see.


And I understand that Mr. De Rose from CME is asking to go first on that panel as he is only available tomorrow.  Then I expect that I would be the next one up, although I am quite willing to step back if anyone else would prefer to go next.


So I would imagine that I would consume the rest of the day that Mr. De Rose does not, and probably into Monday.  I wouldn't be a bit surprised.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Into...


MS. LEA:  I have estimated two-and-a-half hours for my cross-examination, sir, and it hasn't gotten any shorter yet.

MR. QUESNELLE:  Okay.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.


MR. QUESNELLE:  All right.  Okay.  Great.


All right.  Anything else, Mr. Rogers?


MR. ROGERS:  No, that's fine.  I think I will be shorter than an hour with my presentation on the asset analytical model, but...


MR. QUESNELLE:  I am just trying to get my schedule right.  The motion, Ms. Lea, when --


MS. LEA:  Oh, yes, I'm sorry, sir, I did forget about that.  Yeah.  So the motion is to be heard after lunch tomorrow, the City of Hamilton motion after lunch tomorrow, so --


MR. QUESNELLE:  And we have got it scheduled then, so irrespective of where we are in the schedule we will do that after lunch, and so --


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. QUESNELLE:  -- that people have a hard start time on that one.


MS. LEA:  That is my understanding.  And if I'm -- whenever anybody asks me to estimate when lunch is, I always say, be here for 1:30.


MR. QUESNELLE:  Sure, okay.  Yeah, all right.


MS. LEA:  Thank you so much.


MR. QUESNELLE:  We will work around that.  Great.


Thank you very much, everyone.  Have a good evening.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:40 p.m.
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